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OVERVIEW

Who We Are

The Gala Coral Group is the pre-eminent integrated betting and gaming group in
Europe. It is the only gambling company in the UK with significant businesses in the
bookmaking, bingo and casino markets, both on the high street and online. We are
also a growing international business, with our expanding betting business in Italy.
Gala Coral is a leader in the field of Corporate Responsibility, and the first gambling
company to have received full accreditation from GamCare across all its UK divisions.
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OVERVIEW

Gala Bingo is the UK’s market leader
in bingo with a market share of 41%
and employing over 5,000 people
in 156 bingo clubs. The Group also
operates the UK’s most successful
online bingo site.

E-Commerce

International

Gala Coral E-Commerce is the online
gambling arm of the Group, and is
responsible for the development,
management and operation of all
E-Commerce activities within the
Group, including Gala TV which
can be accessed through the Sky
platform on channel 861.

At year end the division had opened
336 licensed outlets in Italy and is
looking at expanding into other key
markets including China.

Gala Casino operates 26 UK casinos
and one in Gibraltar, with a total
of 1.3 million members.
In January 2009 we plan to open our
new Casino of the Future in Gibraltar.

2008

1,268.5

2007

1,309.9

● Coral 52.8%
● Gala Bingo 27.2%
● Gala Casino 11.3%
● E-Commerce 6.4%
● International 2.3%

EBITDA pre-exceptionals (£million)
2008

362.1

2007

401.8

Segmental Operating Profit
by Division* (pie chart excludes
International)

Cash Flow from Operations (£million)
2008
2007
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314.2
391.3

Gala Coral’s brands, combined with the commitment
of its employees, enabled the Group to demonstrate a
resilience to what was a challenging market in 2007-08.
Although profit was down on last year, given the impact
of the smoking ban on our Gala Bingo business, and
the competitive pressures on our Casino and E-Commerce
divisions, we achieved a performance which demonstrates
the underlying strengths of the business and will stand
us in good stead for the future.
Given the trading outlook for the leisure
and hospitality sector, in January the Board
decided to strengthen the Group’s capital
structure and subsequently undertook a
refinancing of the Group’s debt arrangements.
Our private equity partners demonstrated their
continuing support with a further injection
of equity and the Board is now confident that
our capital structure positions us well for
any challenges we may face in the future.

Group Turnover by Division*

Group Turnover (£million)

OVERVIEW

Chairman’s Statement

The Group’s Divisions During the Year

Coral is the most profitable
bookmaker per shop with almost
1,600 betting shops across the
country. It employs over 10,000
people and has a dedicated telephone
and internet business.

1

● Coral 62.7%
● Gala Bingo 21.3%
● E-Commerce 13.2%
● Gala Casino 3.3%
● International (0.5)%
* In 2007-08 the Group was organised
into five divisions.

The gaming and betting sectors, in the UK
and overseas, are going through a period
of changing legislative and regulatory
environments. I am, however, confident that
our strategy, combined with the strength
of our brands, will enable us to trade through
the economic cycle, to maintain our position
as a strong and robust business and to deliver
returns to our investors.
A number of Board changes have occurred since
last year including, in particular, the appointment
of Dominic Harrison (our COO for the past
18 months) as Group CEO on 1 October 2008.
Dominic’s achievements since joining the
Group in June 2004 make him extremely well
qualified for his new role. He succeeded Neil
Goulden, who has served as Group CEO with
great dedication for the past five years. We
look forward to Neil’s continuing contribution.
On 30 September 2008 Matthew Roberts left
the Company and I would like to thank him
for his contribution over the past few years.
I am pleased to welcome Gary Hughes, who
succeeded Matthew as Chief Financial Officer.
I was also delighted to welcome two new nonexecutive Board members: Alexis Dormandy,
of Candover – following the resignation of
Gerard Conway – and Tom Attwood, of ICG.

The Board recognises the significant
challenges the Group faces over the next year.
Trading will be tough and will test the
management’s mettle at all levels. I am confident,
however, that our dedicated and professional
executive team will be more than equal to the
challenge. Gala Coral will remain at the forefront
of innovation, and will continue to take the lead
in lobbying the Government and the Gambling
Commission to promote the achievement of a
more open and responsible environment in the
sector. The Board will also support management
in ensuring at all times that the business is
aware of, and responsive to, the needs of the
local communities in which the Group operates.
Finally, I have decided to step down as
Chairman of the Group with effect from
1 January 2009 and will be succeeded by
Neil Goulden. Since the original founding of the
Group in 1997, through its many consolidations,
its acquisition of the Casino Division and of
the Coral Eurobet Group, to its market-leading
position as Europe’s pre-eminent betting
and gaming Group, I have been honoured
and privileged to serve alongside the best
team of management and staff I have ever
experienced. I am enormously appreciative
of the support of all our financial sponsors
through that exciting journey – eight UK
private equity providers have supported us
along the way. I thank everybody who has
contributed to the success of the Gala Coral
Group, and my support continues, albeit from
a distance. I have enormous confidence that
the business remains in good hands.

John Kelly OBE
Chairman
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OUR BUSINESS

Chief Executive’s Review
In the Group’s first full year of trading following the
introduction of the smoking ban in England and Wales,
Gala Coral’s year end EBITDA pre-exceptionals* of
£362.1 million reflects a robust response to increased
regulatory and economic challenges.

I am also very proud that we have published
our first dedicated Corporate Responsibility
Report this year. This underscores our
commitment to Corporate Responsibility
as a business which operates in a wide
range of diverse communities. Our Corporate
Responsibility practices continue to
demonstrate market leadership and this
year we have worked extensively with
Responsibility In Gambling Trust (RIGT)
and appointed Sue Ryder Care as the
Group’s first ever Group Charity. I am
delighted that our work and effort in this
area continues to be externally recognised.

ensure that regulation is effective and
proportionate, and that the industry is not
stifled by over-regulation and cost. We will
continue to make our case to Government
to end double taxation for the bingo
industry at a time when Government
support and sponsorship for the gambling
industry is needed more than ever.

Market

The Divisions

As we reported last year, the regulatory
and legislative landscape continues to
have a significant effect upon the sector.
The impact of Government decisions
continues to take its toll on the market,
particularly with this being the first full
year of the smoking ban in England
and Wales. This had an inevitable impact
on our land-based bingo business.

The Group continued to trade solidly during
2007-08 in the light of the downturn in the
UK economy:

Last year, we expressed the need for a
more balanced regulatory environment
and the hope that the establishment of
the Gambling Commission would enable
the sector to continue to grow in a
responsible and accountable manner.
While the Commission is still in its early
days, we trust that it will, in the long term,

Towards the end of our financial year, we
began to feel the effects of the softening in
the UK economy. It is against this backdrop
that the Group’s trading for the full year
needs to be seen.

Coral: Coral, which operates 1,599 betting
shops, runs the most profitable betting shops
in the country. We continued new shop
openings and benefited from longer
opening hours permitted by the new
Gambling Act. We created a new in-shop TV
channel (Coral TV) which combines output
from Turf TV transmissions, SIS and our own
greyhound tracks to create a competitive
in-shop action and data service. These
initiatives enabled us to record a significant
increase in EBITDA pre-exceptionals and
to continue to grow our customer base.

Gala Bingo: This division has been hardest
hit by the smoking ban, because of its parimutuel nature. In response to a reduction
in admissions we cut costs by 25%.
We continued to invest in games and prizes,
most notably Gala High 5, the market’s most
popular stake retention jackpot product.
Gala Casinos: The division’s marketing
initiatives attracted 400,000 new customers
during the year. It successfully completed
the rollout of the industry leading loyalty
card, Fortune. The implementation of the
Gambling Act 2005 led to a significant
increase in competition and prompted us
to streamline our casino estate. We look
forward to opening our Casino of the Future,
in Gibraltar, in January 2009.
E-Commerce: We are market leaders in
online bingo with Galabingo.com offering
the best products and the most prize money
in the market. We have great plans to build
on this position in the coming year. During
the year, we introduced web streaming to
enable players to watch Gala TV online and
we laid the foundations for building on the
success of the Eurobet brand overseas.
International: We are delighted with the
performance of our betting shops in Italy.
By year end we had 336 shops open and
trading. We look forward to building our
presence in Italy on and offline in
coming years.
I am delighted that we continue to run
sector-leading businesses in a Group that
is integrated, diverse, and well positioned to
face the challenges over the coming years.

The Group
During the year we carried out an extensive
review of our business. As a result, we will
now refocus it into three trading divisions
post year end: Gala Gaming (Gala Bingo
and Gala Casinos), Retail Betting (Coral and
Eurobet betting shops in Italy), and Remote
Gambling (E-Commerce and Telebet).
The restructure has three principal
objectives:
G

G
G

to make the Group a more cohesive
entity by creating synergies and
improving our customers’ experience;
to prepare the business for dealing with
the economic downturn; and
to position the Group to take advantage
of the eventual economic upturn.

The Future
Looking ahead, the principal uncertainties
surrounding the Group are the prospects of
a further softening in the UK economy and
the extension of Government regulation.
The restructuring of our divisions and the
focus that we have committed to improving
efficiencies within the Group give me
confidence that we are able not only
to manage the business through these
challenging and difficult times, but to grow
our market share. Our focused investment
strategy, which incorporates specific plans
for the continued modernisation of products,
especially within our bingo business, will
continue to help us outperform the sector.
We will also continue to engage with the
Government and regulators to promote
a positive gambling climate and continue
to champion responsible gambling.
Dominic Harrison
Chief Executive

* A reconciliation of EBITDA to operating profit is provided on page 23.
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OUR BUSINESS

Corporate Responsibility

Gala Coral strives to be an ethical
and socially-aware business.
By communicating our corporate
responsibility strategy and
reporting on our progress, we aim
to set a good example for other
businesses in our sector.
At the beginning of the year we reviewed
our corporate responsibility strategy.
As a business which has a large social
impact, we focused on responsible gambling,
community engagement, environmental
stewardship, Gala Coral people, and health
and safety – all key issues which also
represent opportunities to improve the way
we operate. Our strategy is underpinned
by our core values – we want our employees
to work as a high-performing, customer
focused team, which behaves ethically
and achieves outstanding results.
Achieving a better understanding of their
wider impact and potential benefits helps
us to record our progress, and to set practical
and appropriate targets which align with our
wider business strategy. During the year, we
established a corporate responsibility steering
committee. Chaired by the Group Human
Resources Director, the committee will set
targets and policy to create a more efficient
top-down organisation to provide logistical
support to deliver our corporate
responsibility policies.
Gala Coral was the first UK operator to be
accredited by GamCare for our work in
promoting responsible gambling, in both
retail and online businesses and our
preparation for the 2005 Gambling Act –
which came into force on 1 September 2007.
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We were proud to nominate Sue Ryder Care
as our Group charity this year and have
set ourselves the target of raising £1 million
to help increase their hours of care from
four million to ten million a year.
We have already begun an integrated
approach to our partnership, which
goes beyond fundraising, by including
knowledge-sharing and managerial
secondments. Gala Bingo also continues
to support Breakthrough Breast Cancer
and, to date, has raised over £1.5 million.

Responsibility In Gambling Trust

We are equally proud of our environmental
initiatives: we extended our company car
green driving programme by capping our
CO2 levels, increasing the number of lower
CO2 cars in our fleet, and continuing to
contribute to the Woodland Trust. By the
end of the coming year, we hope that lower
CO2 vehicles will represent a quarter of our
car fleet.
Our Gala Coral People strategy continued
to bring positive changes throughout
the business, and we were delighted
to have won a National Training Award for
Gala Casino’s BTEC in Casino Management,
which is a unique collaboration with
Blackpool and the Fylde College.
In combination with Sue Ryder Care, we
launched a three million eco bulb giveaway
in November this year. This will help our
customers reduce their CO2 emissions
by an estimated 39,200 tonnes a year and
reduce their energy requirements by an
estimated 104GWh. We are also aiming
to recycle 75% of our waste by the end
of 2009.

Main picture: Our Group IT Teams
now have an annual Community
Project scheduled.
Far left: Our team at Gala Bingo
Warrington, led by Mark Worsfold
the General Manager, raised over
£18,000 for charity Action for
children.
Left: A Community Project involves
colour and fun – and is a real boon
to local communities.
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OUR BUSINESS

Gala Coral’s People
facility enables monitoring objectives to be
undertaken more easily, and includes a section
which covers individual development plans.

Gala Coral’s people goal is simple –
to become the employer of choice
in the Gambling & Leisure sector.
The Group believes that by continually
focusing on employee engagement,
it will continue to harness and develop
the talents of all its employees.
Gala Coral has developed, and pursues,
four key areas in developing its people:
G
G
G
G

Employee Relations Planning
Management & People Development
Reward & Recognition Structures
Effective Recruitment & Retention
Strategies

The Group’s employee relations planning
is centred around the completion of
an annual Employee (Opinion) Survey,
in which all employees across the Group
are asked to participate.
The Employee Survey focuses on recording
levels of satisfaction in 11 key areas –
ranging from team work to working hours
– which were previously identified through
a number of employee focus groups.
The survey is undertaken in November each
year, with the findings available early in the
following new year. Last year’s employee
motivation exercise shows that all our
divisions’ and Group functions’ scores
are above the UK average despite a testing
working and economic environment.
In addition, staff consultation forums
across the Group not only facilitate two-way
communications but also generate many
business ideas.
We have recently established an online
performance management process, enabling
management to undertake one-to-one
performance reviews for many employees
without the need for paper trails. The online

8

GALA CORAL GROUP
ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Our Gala Casinos team recently won a
National Training Award – National Award
in the Collaboration Category – for our
Gala Casinos BTEC programme in Casino
Management for Team Leaders, which
is operated with Blackpool and The Fylde
College. More than 150 of our team
leaders have completed the course.
We firmly believe in the development of
skills in the gambling sector. This is why we
have long been associated with People 1st,
the Sector Skills Council for the Leisure,
Tourism, Hospitality and Gambling industry.
We are also long-term supporters of
Springboard, the charity that works with
young and vulnerable people to work with
them to find rewarding careers in our sector.
For Gala Coral Group, these relationships
are about leadership and demonstrating
our commitment to the wider industry,
its reputation and most importantly the
future of the people who work in it.
The Gala Coral Group has always viewed
its people as being the core element in
its business. As a result, we invest in them
for their own benefit as well as to gain
maximum performance for the Group’s
benefit. In recognition of this, the Group
has held the Investor in People (IiP)
accreditation for more than eight years.
We have also been recognised as a “Good
Employer” by People 1st, the national
Sector Skills Council for the Hospitality,
Leisure, Travel and Tourism Industries.
The Good Employer campaign, designed to
showcase the best companies in the sector,
is backed by the Department of Culture,
Media & Sport (DCMS) and the British
Hospitality Association (BHA).
We are also supporting People 1st in its
development of the first set of National
Occupational Standards (NOS) for the
Gambling Industry. All vocational
qualifications are based on NOS, which
makes them extremely important in
the continuing development of our
employees within the industry.

Main picture: Michael Edwards,
Bingo Caller of the Year, celebrating
with customers at Birmingham’s
Kingsbury Road club.
Far left: Alan Pedelty from Gala
Casino Aberdeen wins Croupier of the
Year 2008.
Left: Pete Clements of Hanley Bingo
Club, winner of the Manager of the
Year award.
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Experience
a great day
at the races

OUR BUSINESS

Divisional Review

Coral operated 1,599 betting
shops nation-wide at the year
end. During the year, we achieved
a significant increase in EBITDA
by continuing to focus on
customer service and market
share initiatives: we extended
opening hours, created our own
in-shop TV channel to show
selected transmissions, and
introduced exclusive content
on our gaming machines.
Trading Review
The Gambling Act 2005, which came into
force on 1 September 2007, has enabled
us to open our shops until 9.30pm all year
round, and this helped to counter the
challenging economic conditions, which
had a significant effect on over-the-counter
takings, and a disappointing Euro 2008.
We also took advantage of the new legislation
to open 46 new Coral shops (both acquisitions
and new licences). At the beginning of the
year we signed up with Turf TV, which now
controls feeds to betting shops from 31 race
courses, and negotiated to create our own
channel (Coral TV) enabling us to combine
that content with transmissions from other
tracks and from our own greyhound tracks
at Romford and Hove. Since the year end,
we have also installed Sky Sports and
Setanta Sports in all our shops, becoming
the first major bookmaker to do so.

Market Overview and Outlook
Our shops provide the opportunity for
people to have fun and bet responsibly, a
particularly valuable service in communities

where other leisure opportunities are limited.
The new regulatory environment has
encouraged us to further tailor what we
offer to meet our customers’ preferences.
Our objective is to build a base of loyal
customers – who are as likely to place
bets on wider sporting events as they are
on racing – who choose our shops over
a competitor’s where a choice exists
in their locality.

Our shops provide the opportunity for people to have
fun and bet responsibly, a particularly valuable service
in communities where other leisure opportunities
are limited.

In the coming year, we will focus on
increasing our market share. We plan to
introduce single accounts for online and
telephone betting and will invest in replacing
our existing online systems to enable
us to offer a market-leading proposition.
Greyhound racing will continue to be an
important part of our business, inside the
shops and at our tracks.
We continue to be concerned about the level
of taxation imposed on the industry and,
of course, the tough economic conditions.
We believe, however, that our cost-efficient
operating model and long-term strategy
will enable us to continue to prosper.

We run the
most profitable
betting shops
in the industry

EBITDA pre-exceptionals

+8.8%
2007: £205.3 million
2008: £223.4 million
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OUR BUSINESS

Divisional Review

The smoking ban, continuing double
taxation and government legislation
on machines combined to make the
bingo industry more challenging
during the year. As a result, we
have focused on improving and
innovating the customer experience,
as well as aggressively addressing
the cost base of the business.
Trading Review
The bingo industry is going through dramatic
change. Double taxation (a gambling duty tax,
plus VAT) and legislation requiring the removal
of Section 21 machines have played their
part, but there is no doubt that the smoking
ban has had the most significant effect.
This created a need to focus on our
overheads. By increasing productivity,
improving efficiency, and closing
unprofitable clubs (in most cases, we were
able to move staff and customers to a sister
club in the area), we reduced costs by 25%.
We used the experience we had gained
in Scotland, where the smoking ban is
in its second year and where we are now
outperforming the market, to begin to
rebuild the business.

Market Overview and Outlook
The long-term popularity of bingo clubs
is founded on sociability, respectability
and thrill. An important element in local
communities, our clubs offer food and
drink, slot machines, and digital, as well as
traditional, bingo. They provide unthreatening
environments, particularly for women,
for a fun night out. We have introduced
new games and prizes, including Gala
High 5 – a stake retention jackpot played
across all Gala clubs in which 50% of the
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We run the most popular
and biggest stake retention
Jackpot game in the UK.
In its first year Gala High 5
paid out more that £16.8m
in prize money to more
than 5,000 customers.

£16.8m
in prize money this year

prize goes to the individual, 50% to the
other players in the club. Our confidence in
Gala High 5, which prompted us to opt out
of the National Game, has been justified:
in its first year it paid out £16.8 million
to 5,144 members continuing to evolve
our key products.
We have recently launched an improved
new member process, which we believe
will convert customers into loyal members.
We have a strong service culture with which
to build for the future. Mystery customer
scores for the year average 90%, and our
customer satisfaction survey demonstrates
88% of members are likely to recommend
us to their friends.
We plan to trial a new bingo club concept
in 2009 taking the learnings from extensive
research as well as our recent new builds.
The concept will focus on retaining our
core customer whilst significantly building
the frequency of new and “light users”.
After a difficult year we believe we are
building strong foundations to shape
our future performance.

Experience
a community
spirit with
friends
Our regular bingo players celebrating the launch
of “High 5”, which creates more local winners with
more ways to win big.
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Experience
a “magic”
night out

OUR BUSINESS

Divisional Review

The division performed extremely
well in what has been a tough year
for the entire industry. We recruited
400,000 new members, successfully
introduced our Fortune loyalty card
to all our casinos and extended our
themed zones when we introduced
Casino Magic which introduces new
customers to roulette and blackjack.
Trading Review
The division’s success is particularly
notable in the face of increased duty from
the budget in 2007, the legislation which
forced us to remove Section 21 machines,
the smoking ban, and the increased
number of competitors resulting from
the implementation of the Gambling Act.
During the year, we closed or announced
the closure of four casinos, primarily because
the increased duty and competition made
them non-viable.
We have, however, worked hard – and
successfully – to ensure the continuing
success of the rest of our estate. The process,
begun in 2007, of increasing efficiency and
of changing some of our priorities led us
back into strong profit growth in the period
following the anniversary of the introduction
of the smoking ban and encouraged us,
despite the current economic downturn,
to take a positive view of the future.

Market Overview and Outlook
We have a clear strategy: to grow and
outperform the market. We plan to attract
another 400,000 new members – principally
through promotions – and will entertain
them by offering unbeatable facilities,
customer service, a wide choice of games,
Air Lounges for smokers, and membership
of our Fortune loyalty card scheme.

We have extended our themed zones by introducing
Casino Magic which, for low stakes, introduces new
customers to roulette and blackjack.

We currently have around 450,000 Fortune
members who can redeem the points
gained for playing on the tables or machines,
for gaming chips, for food and drink, or for
gifts. Our themed zones and restaurants
cater for different types of customers, from
dedicated players of table games, to those
who like to sit with friends and have the
occasional “flutter”, and to newcomers who
are learning to play at our Casino Magic tables.
In addition, we have opened an innovative
“Casino Coral” offer, at our Tottenham Court
Road, London casino, and we are about to
complete our new casino in Gibraltar which
is our vision for the “Casino of the Future”,
and which will undoubtedly be the best
in Europe. This will open in January 2009.

We have had more
people through the
doors at our casinos
than ever before

1000

400,000
new members
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OUR BUSINESS

Divisional Review

Gala Coral E-Commerce
The division, which develops and
operates all of the Group’s online
betting and gaming activities,
continued to grow and outperform
in an increasingly competitive
market. Galabingo.com, Gala TV,
Galacasino.co.uk and Eurobet.com
are reported under the divisions’
results, with Coral.co.uk reported
under Coral.
Trading Review
The division recorded a solid year of
EBITDA pre-exceptionals, with growth in
the market-leading Galabingo.com being
particularly positive.
Revenues from Gala TV improved, with the
channel exposed to a wider online audience
via “web streaming” from June 2008.
Eurobet.com showed good growth in its core
market, although poker revenues were down
in the year due to intense competition in
this space. The Galacasino.co.uk customer
base increased by 88% in the year and
continues to show good potential for growth.

Market Overview and Outlook
Galabingo.com is at the core of the
division’s business, and attracts over 80,000
active players per month. Customers tell
us that the Galabingo.com platform offers
a superior bingo and gaming experience,
and the commitment to constant
development ensures that it remains the
best product in the market. As the market
leader Galabingo.com pays out more in
prizes than any other bingo site, with over
400,000 winners sharing over £80 million
in prize money every month.
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Gala Bingo.com has
over 400,000 winners
every month and paid
out to five million players
in the last year.

400,000
winners every month

The year ahead will see the further
integration of the Group’s bingo offerings.
Developments to the production of Gala TV
will enhance its role as a TV and web stream
product. We have the opportunity to grow
our online bingo business domestically
through integration with our offline
clubs and through mobile bingo, and
internationally in key territories where
the platform and liquidity will give us
a competitive advantage.
While the current state of the economy
must be of concern to every business,
we believe that the value-for-money
entertainment experience that online
gambling provides is likely to result
in continued growth.

Experience
the thrill
of winning
at home
Customers tell us that the Galabingo.com platform
offers a superior bingo and gaming experience,
and the platform is under constant development to
ensure that it remains the best product in the market.

GALA CORAL GROUP
ANNUAL REPORT 2008

17

SECTION

2

OUR BUSINESS

Divisional Review

Gala Coral International
The division performed well. We had
336 outlets open in Italy by year end,
expect to have all 368 outlets open
at the end of the 2008 calendar
year, and are using the valuable
experience we are gaining in that
country to prepare for operations
elsewhere in Europe and beyond.
Trading Review
The 403 “Bersani” licences we acquired in
Italy – under our Eurobet brand – entitle us
to trade in sports and horse racing betting
across 362 retail units. In September 2008
we acquired an additional six historic
licenses. Betting patterns in Italy are,
however, different from those in the UK.
Since the vast majority, 80%, of betting
is on European League football (mainly
Italian), we raised our profile by sponsoring
Genoa CFC, one of Italy’s oldest football
clubs, and recently renewed our sponsorship
for the 2008-09 season.
The market in Italy is tightly regulated and
we are planning further expansion carefully.
In December 2007, we acquired a bingo
club in Genoa; that entitled us to run online
bingo which we are planning to launch
in 2009. In September 2008, we launched
Poker Play for Fun online, and we plan to
launch Poker for Real before the end of 2008.

Market Overview and Outlook
The Gala Coral Group is in a unique position:
its experience and spread of operations
make it best placed to take advantage
of opportunities which become available
in other countries.
We are currently focusing on European
markets which have favourable regulatory
climates. We are also looking at a number of
emerging markets including China, in which
we know there is an appetite for gambling.
While the majority of emerging markets
remain tightly regulated – and in many
cases the regulation is not clearly defined –
as soon as there are developments we have
the products, the brands and the business
model to move quickly.
We have established an operating model in
Italy which has given us a good start in our
international business. We believe there are
many other opportunities, and look forward
to capitalising on them.

We have opened more than
190 new betting outlets in
Italy during the year

+190
2007: 178 outlets
2008: 368 outlets
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Experience
the passion
of Italy
The vast majority of betting is on European League
football. We have recently renewed our sponsorship
of Genoa CFC, one of Italy’s oldest football clubs,
for the 2008-09 season.
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Board of Directors

John Kelly, Non-executive Chairman

Marek Gumienny, non-executive director

John became Chairman of Gala Coral in April 2004,
having led a management buy-in from Bass plc
as Chief Executive in 1997. He is also Chairman of
Trainline.com. John serves on the board of “Business
in the Community” (a Prince of Wales initiative)
and is Chair of the East Midlands Advisory Board.
In 2002 he helped launch the Nottinghamshire
“CARES” BITC programme and was appointed the
Prince of Wales’s Ambassador for BITC in the East
Midlands in June 2005.

Marek joined the Board on 17 March 2003, and is a
senior Managing Director at Candover and a member
of Candover’s executive committee. He has been
involved in many transactions, including the buyouts
of Ontex, Vetco International and Gala Group, the
delisting of DX and its merger with SMS Services,
and the buyouts of Swissport, Ferretti and Parques
Reunidos. Marek qualified as a chartered accountant
with Price Waterhouse.

Charles Sherwood, non-executive director
Neil Goulden, Executive Deputy Chairman
Neil joined the Group in 2000 and was appointed
Deputy Chairman from 1 October 2008, having held
the position of Chief Executive since 2004. He will
take over from John Kelly as Chairman on 1 January
2009. Neil was formerly Chief Executive of Allied
Leisure plc and has also held board positions at
Compass Group and Ladbrokes. Neil is currently
Chairman of Business In Sport and Leisure which
represents the interests of private sector companies
in the sport, leisure and hospitality industry; Chairman
of the South Central NHS Ambulance Trust; and is
a member of the Low Pay Commission, which advises
the Government on the national minimum wage.

Dominic Harrison, Chief Executive
Dominic became Chief Executive on 1 October 2008
having been Chief Operating Officer since February
2007. He joined the Group in June 2004 as Trading
Director and was later appointed Managing Director
of the E-Commerce division with responsibility for all
the Group’s online betting and gaming. His former roles
include International Marketing Director for Bass Brewers
and Commercial Director at Ladbrokes. Dominic
qualified as a chartered accountant with KPMG.

Gary Hughes, Chief Financial Officer
Gary joined the Group in October 2008. He was
formerly Chief Executive of CMP Information, which
was the largest operating division of United Business
Media plc. His former roles include Deputy Finance
Director at Forte plc, Group Finance Director of Scottish
Media Group plc and Group Finance Director at Emap plc.
Gary is also a non-executive director of J Sainsbury
plc and an adviser to Ibis Capital Limited. Gary is a
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
England and Wales and qualified with Ernst & Young.

Peter Catterall, non-executive director
Top from left:
John Kelly
Neil Goulden
Dominic Harrison
Gary Hughes
Peter Catterall
Marek Gumienny
Charles Sherwood
Guy Davison
Martin Clarke
Alexis Dormandy
Tom Attwood
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Peter was appointed to the Board on 17 March 2003.
He is a partner at Cinven and a member of its
Business and Financial Services and Retail, Leisure
and Consumer Sector teams. He has been involved
with transactions including Gondola, Camaieu,
Amadeus and Frans Bonhomme, in addition to the
acquisition of Coral Eurobet by Gala. Peter previously
spent seven years at PricewaterhouseCoopers,
where he worked in the Transaction Services Group,
providing due diligence and transaction advice
to private equity companies.

Charles joined the Board on 8 February 2007. He has
been a partner of Permira since 1985 and has worked
on numerous transactions, particularly in the consumer
sector, including the AA, Birthdays, Dinasol, Homebase,
Provimi and the Tetley Group. Prior to joining
Permira, Charles worked as a strategy consultant
with the Boston Consulting Group in London.

Guy Davison, non-executive director
Guy was appointed to the Board on 8 February 2007.
He joined Cinven in 1988 and is a member of its
Retail, Leisure and Consumer Sector team. Guy
has been involved in many transactions including
Ahlsell, Maxeda, Unique Pub Company, Foseco,
William Hill and the acquisition of Coral Eurobet
by Gala. Before joining Cinven, Guy worked at the
private equity company Larpent Newton for four
years, after spending five years at KPMG. Guy is
a chartered accountant.

Martin Clarke, non-executive director
Martin joined the Board on 22 September 2005,
and is a partner at Permira, heading up its Consumer
Sector. He has worked on a number of transactions
including Gala Coral Group, New Look, Principal Hotels
and Telepizza. Martin has over 20 years’ experience
in private equity and prior to joining Permira was
a director of PPMV, the private equity arm of
Prudential plc. His early career was spent at Cinven.

Alexis Dormandy, non-executive director
Alexis joined the Board on 1 February 2008. He is
a Managing Director at Candover and a member of
Candover’s executive committee. He has been involved
with a number of Candover’s portfolio companies
including Parques Reunidos, EurotaxGlass, DX Group,
Alma, and Get. Prior to joining Candover he was at
Orange where he was Chief Marketing Officer. He has
also held a number of senior positions at Virgin Group
including Chief Operating Officer of Virgin.com and
founding director of Virgin Mobile.

Tom Attwood, non-executive director
Tom joined the Board on 1 July 2008. He is a Managing
Director of ICG and the Chairman of both the executive
committee and the Board of Intermediate Capital
Managers Limited, ICG's fund management company.
Before joining ICG he was a director of James Capel
& Co, where he was responsible for the growth of
their IPO business. He also worked with ICG's
founders in raising the initial equity for ICG.
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Financial Review
Like many consumer-facing businesses, the year to
27 September 2008 proved to be a challenging one
for Gala Coral. All of our divisions felt the adverse effect
of the turmoil in the UK and indeed the global financial
markets as it impacted the wider economic environment
and indeed consumer confidence and spending habits.
Our bingo and casino operations continued
to be adversely impacted by the ongoing
smoking bans in Scotland, England and
Wales and the removal of Section 21
machines which occurred towards the
end of the prior financial year. Our casinos
and online businesses were subject to
a significant increase in competition in
the period – a challenge, however, they
are facing up to well.
Despite these trading challenges Gala
Coral’s continued out-performance against
its competitive set business-by-business
reflects a relentless focus on our customers,
our people and our core competencies. This
focus is illustrated by the continued growth
in the Coral Retail estate, the Group’s
expansion into Italy and the ongoing
success of our loyalty programmes across
the Group. However, from an overall Group
perspective the trading challenges
outweighed much of the progress made
during the period resulting in a £39.7m
decline in EBITDA pre-exceptionals
compared with the prior year.
Our overall trading performance has been
discussed in detail in the Chief Executive
Officer’s review on pages 4 to 5 and the
divisional reviews on pages 10 to 19.
Despite this extremely difficult trading
environment the Group did not breach any
of its financial covenants during the period,
and nor was a breach at any time forecast.
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However, the Board concluded that it would
be prudent for the Group to approach its
senior and mezzanine banking syndicates
to re-negotiate its banking covenants
to ensure that the Group continued to
maintain a good level of headroom over its
financial covenants for 2007/08 and over
the medium term. This re-negotiation was
successfully completed on 22 May 2008,
and resulted in the Group’s shareholders
investing a further £124.5m into the Group,
of which £83.3m was utilised to repay
senior debt, £13.1m was used to pay related
fees and the remainder was retained in the
Group to fund future capital expenditure
and working capital requirements.
The key financials for 2007-08 were:
G

G

G
G
G

Turnover of £1,268.5 million, reflecting
a decline from 2006-07 of £41.4 million
(3.2%);
Group EBITDA (pre-exceptionals)
of £362.1 million, a reduction of
£39.7 million (9.9%) on the prior year;
Cash generated from operations
of £314.2 million;
Capital investment of £56.3 million
during the year;
Cash at bank and in hand at the year
end of £149.6 million, an increase
of £49.0 million on the prior year.

Group Turnover and Profit Before
Interest and Tax
2007
2008
£m
£m as restated

Turnover
EBITDA
(pre-exceptionals):
Coral
Bingo
E-Commerce
Casino
International
Group overheads
Other operating
income
Group EBITDA
(pre-exceptionals)
Exceptional items
Depreciation and
amortisation
Profit on disposal
of assets
Profit before interest
and tax

1,268.5 1,309.9

Change
Yr on Yr
+/(-) £m

(41.4)

223.4
92.7
44.8
23.7
3.9
(31.3)

205.3
136.7
39.7
33.2
(0.5)
(23.8)

18.1
(44.0)
5.1
(9.5)
4.4
(7.5)

4.9

11.2

(6.3)

362.1
(159.0)

401.8
(39.7)
(5.4) (153.6)

(109.4)

(89.6)

(19.8)

1.9

3.1

(1.2)

95.6

309.9

(214.3)

Group turnover decreased by £41.4 million
(3.2%) to £1,268.5 million, compared with the
prior year (£1,309.9 million). This reflects the
significant adverse impact of the ongoing
smoking ban on our bingo and casino
operations, the forced removal of Section
21 gaming machines, increased competition
in the wider casino sector and an overall
softening in underlying consumer confidence,
partially offset by the benefit of strong
growth in the Coral Retail business, in Gala
Bingo online and from the International
division, principally in Italy.
Group EBITDA (pre-exceptionals) was
£362.1 million compared with £401.8 million
in the prior year.
Exceptional items aggregate to a net expense
of £159.0 million made up as follows:
£32.9 million of vacant leasehold provisions
and £4.6 million of redundancy costs

primarily due to the closure of bingo and
casino retail units during the year; £3.0 million
of one-off legal and licensing costs; and
the final integration costs in respect of the
Coral Eurobet business, partially offset
by a £24.5 million benefit arising as a result
of the transfer of the Group’s defined benefit
pension scheme from a final salary scheme
to a career average revalued earnings
(“CARES”) based scheme.
Also included in exceptional items is
£93.3 million of depreciation and
amortisation for the write-down of tangible
fixed assets in the bingo and casino retail
estates and £26.8 million write-down
of goodwill as a result of an exceptional
Group-wide impairment review and
£19.9 million of accelerated depreciation
on tangible assets within specific bingo
and casino retail units, which were
closed during the year.
As a result, profit before interest and tax (post
exceptional items) declined to £95.6 million
compared with £309.9 million in the prior
year. A further analysis of turnover and
operating profit by segment can be found
in note 2 to the financial statements on
pages 47 to 48.

Cashflow
The Group’s operating activities remain
highly cash generative. During the year
to 27 September 2008 net cash inflow from
operations was strong at £314.2 million.
Of this cash inflow, £56.3 million was reinvested in the Group to fund its capital
expenditure programme (as summarised
on the folowing page) and £237.0 million
was utilised to meet the interest and other
financing costs on the Group’s bank
borrowings. As previously highlighted,
as a part of resetting our banking covenants
in May 2008 the Group’s shareholders
invested £124.5 million into the Group,
of which £83.3 million was utilised to repay
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Financial Review continued

senior debt and £13.1 million was used
to pay related fees. In addition, a further
£13.9 million of senior debt was repaid in
line with the scheduled repayment profile.
The Group’s highly focused capital
expenditure programme is aimed at
maintaining and enhancing our Licensed
Betting Office (LBO), bingo and casino
operations, as well as introducing new
gaming products and offerings across all
of our operations, both online and offline.
All proposed capital projects are individually
appraised and the Group sets clear returns
criteria to assist in assessing the viability
and prioritisation on all such projects. The
principal capital expenditure initiatives in
the financial year included: £18.6 million to
acquire competitor betting offices, develop
new LBO licences and to transfer/upgrade
existing Coral shops; £5.2 million to develop
and expand the LBO retail estate in Italy,
including £2.3 million for the acquisition
of six existing LBOs; and £30.2 million on
developing our bingo and casino portfolios
with a new build casino in Gibraltar and
a sizable number of refurbishment projects.

Bank Borrowings
At the end of September 2008, net bank
debt was £2,721.1 million compared with
£2,842.2 million at the end of September
2007. At the year end this comprised senior
bank debt of £1,980.4 million, mezzanine
debt of £517.0 million and bank debt
secured on certain Group properties of
£373.3 million, partially offset by cash
at bank and in hand of £149.6 million.
The Group’s bank borrowings are available
under a bank loan agreement and a
mezzanine debt agreement, both of which
were established on 27 October 2005.
The bank debt and mezzanine debt are
long term with various repayment dates,
resulting in an average outstanding term
to maturity of 5.2 years. As is normal, the
bank loan agreement and the mezzanine
finance agreement require the Group to comply
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with certain financial and non-financial
covenants. The financial covenants include
annual limitations on capital expenditure
and require the maintenance of certain
minimum ratios of earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) to both net cash, interest payable
and net indebtedness. In addition, there is
a requirement that the net operating cash
flows generated are not less than the
Group’s ongoing cost of funding its bank
debt. The bank loan and mezzanine debt are
secured by a fixed and floating charge over
certain of the Group’s assets. Further detail
on the Group’s borrowings is set out in
notes 16 to 19 of the financial statements.
The Group has a revolving facility of £50 million,
which is available to finance its working capital
requirements and for general corporate
purposes, and a capital investment facility
of £300 million. As at 27 September 2008,
£14.2 million had been drawn down on the
revolving facility as security against letters
of credit and £232.6 million had been drawn
on the capital investment facility.
In addition, the Group has investor-funded
debt (including preferred ordinary shares
and preference shares) of £1,676.0 million.

Financial Risk
The Group’s financial risk management
programme recognises the endemic
unpredictability and volatility of financial
markets and therefore seeks to appropriately
minimise the potential risks and exposures
to the Group. The Group’s funding, liquidity
and financial exposures with respect to
interest rate risk are managed by the Group’s
finance and treasury teams and are subject
to rigorous internal control procedures.
All significant financing transactions are
authorised by the Board of Directors.
The most important components of
financial risk impacting the Group are
interest rate risks, credit risks, liquidity risk
and, to a lesser extent, foreign currency risk.
These are discussed in turn below.

Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s trading income and operating
cash flows are independent of any changes
or movements in interest rates. The Group
primarily finances its operations through
a variety of bank borrowings, including
syndicated bank facilities and the private
debt markets. The Group’s bank borrowings
are primarily denominated in sterling and
are borrowed principally at floating interest
rates. The Group utilises fixed interest rate
swaps to manage its exposure to any
ensuing interest rate fluctuations. At the
year end, 40% of the Group’s borrowings
were hedged. The Group has recently
reviewed its potential exposure to
fluctuations in interest rates over the
next three years and is in the process of
implementing an updated approved interest
rate hedging strategy which will increase
the level of hedging to circa 70%.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will
be unable to pay amounts in full, when due.
Surplus cash is invested in short-term
financial instruments and the counterparty
credit risk exposures are minimised by
dealing with only a limited range of bona
fide financial institutions with secure, and
tested, credit ratings. Counterparty credit
ratings are regularly monitored, and there
is no significant concentration of credit
risk with any single counterparty. Given
the increased level of uncertainty within
the financial system at the current time
counterparty exposure and analysis
has been made a key priority within the
Group’s treasury management processes.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not
be available to pay obligations when they
fall due. Cash forecasts identifying the liquidity
requirements of the Group are produced
regularly and are reviewed in detail to
ensure that sufficient financial headroom
exists for at least the forthcoming twelvemonth period. The Group maintains

adequate banking facilities, which are
long term with a range of maturity dates,
to mitigate any liquidity risk it may face.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk. The Group’s functional
reporting currency is sterling. All assets and
liabilities are maintained in sterling, with
the exception of our franchise operation
in Italy, the Group’s start up investment
in China, and a number of foreign currency
denominated bank accounts to facilitate
the international operations of the Group’s
E-Commerce division.
The functional currency of the Italian
franchise operation is the euro, and the
Group has partially hedged the ongoing
exposure to the euro by funding the
investment through a euro-denominated
bank loan. The Group has reviewed the net
exposure to foreign currency risk and has
concluded, at this moment in time, that
no further hedging is required. This policy
remains subject to periodic review.

Going Concern
The Directors have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis
consistent with their view, formed after
reviewing the Group’s cash flow forecasts
and trading budgets and after making
appropriate enquiries, that the Group is
operationally and financially robust, and
will generate sufficient cash to meet its
ongoing requirements for at least the
next 12 months.
Gary Hughes
Chief Financial Officer
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report and the
audited financial statements of Gala Coral
Group Limited (the “Company”) together
with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 27 September 2008. The Group
prepares its financial statements to the
last Saturday in September.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Group are the
operation of licensed betting offices (LBOs),
bingo clubs, casinos and an online betting
and gaming business, which operate
predominantly in the UK. More information
on the activities of the Group are provided
in the divisional review on pages 10 to 19.
The principal activity of the Company
is that of a holding company.

Results and Dividends
The results of the Group for the year
ended 27 September 2008 are set out
on page 35 and show an operating profit
for the year before other operating income
and exceptional items, of £247.8 million
(2007: £301.0 million).
No dividends have been paid or proposed
(2007: £Nil).

Business Review and Future
Developments
The Chairman’s statement, the Chief
Executive’s review, the divisional review
and the financial review on pages 3
to 25 review the Group’s business and
performance against its key performance
indicators and likely future developments
and these are incorporated in this report
by reference.

Supplier Payment Policy
The Group’s standard supplier payment
terms are 56 days from receipt of invoice.
At 27 September 2008, trade creditors
outstanding represented approximately
40 days purchases from suppliers
(2007: 50 days purchases).
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Disabled Employees

Directors

Applications for employment by disabled
persons are always considered, bearing
in mind the aptitudes of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of
staff becoming disabled, every effort is
made to ensure that their employment with
the Group continues and that appropriate
training is arranged. It is the policy of
the Group that all employees be given
equal opportunities in respect of training,
career development and promotion.

The following served as directors of
the Company during the year ended
27 September 2008:

Employee Involvement
The Group places considerable value
on the involvement of its employees and
has continued its practice of keeping them
informed on matters affecting them as
employees and on the various factors
affecting the performance of the Group.
There are widely established arrangements
involving briefings, staff consultancy
committees and the publication of
newsletters. The Group also annually
undertakes an employee engagement survey
to ascertain staff views on working for the
Group and to highlight any areas where
improvements could be made. The survey
is carried out by a third party and responses
from staff are received anonymously.
It is Group policy that there shall be no
discrimination in respect of age, sex, colour,
religion, race, nationality or ethnic origin
and that equal opportunity shall be given
to all employees.

Political and Charitable Contributions
Charitable contributions in the year amounted
to £0.6 million (2007: £0.5 million), of which
£0.5 million was donated to the Responsibility
in Gambling Trust (2007: £0.4 million),
and the remaining donations were mainly
to national charities and other industryrelated charities. No political contributions
were made (2007: £nil).

T R Attwood
(appointed 1 July 2008)
P A C Catterall
M A Clarke
G P A M Conway
(resigned 31 January 2008)
G B Davison
A P M Dormandy (appointed 1 February 2008)
N G Goulden
M S Gumienny
D S Harrison
J M Kelly
E M G Roberts
(resigned 30 September 2008)
C N C Sherwood
On 4 December 2008, G W Hughes was
appointed as a director of the Company.
Biographies of the directors at the date of
this report are provided on pages 20 to 21.

Business and regulatory risks are formally
reviewed by the Group’s Executive
Committee and the Group Risk Management
Committee, and are reported to the Board
on a regular basis. The directors believe
appropriate processes are in place to
monitor and mitigate these risks and
their potential adverse consequences
to the Group. Such risks include:
Financial Risk
The Group is exposed to financial risk.
This is summarised, together with the
actions taken by the Group to mitigate
any significant exposures, in the financial
review on pages 22 to 25.
Competition
The Group operates in a highly competitive
market both from:
i) national and independent betting
and gaming operators, including online
and interactive operators; and

Employee Share Trust
The employee share trust was established
in 2004 to issue share options and shares
to eligible employees of the Group. In order
to fulfil this purpose, the employee share
trust acquires shares in the Company.
In the financial statements these are
shown as “own shares”. Further information
can be found in note 22.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The management of the business and
the execution of the Group’s strategy are
subject to a number of risks, the occurrence
of any one of which may adversely impact
the management of the Group and the
execution of its growth strategies.

ii) leisure activities/product offerings from
other operators who are also competing
with Gala Coral for a share of the
consumer “leisure pound”.
To mitigate this risk, staff are trained
to provide excellent customer service.
The Group’s local managers and central
marketing teams actively promote
the business to existing and potential
customers through a varied and wide
range of promotional activities and the
Group routinely undertakes market research
across each of its businesses to understand
its customers’ expectations and whether
their needs are being met.
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Directors’ Report continued

Gaming Risks
The Group’s products, with the exception
of the core bingo offering due to its
pari-mutuel nature, are exposed to a
varying degree to gaming risk, whereby
the outcome of one, or a number, of events
upon which customers overall have placed
significant bets can go against the Group’s
interest. However, the Group’s exposure to
this risk is mitigated by the following factors:
i) the broad product range offered;
ii) the national and international scale
of its operations;
iii) there are clear pricing policies in place
across the casino and the LBO estate
which limit the maximum amounts
which can be staked on individual
casino table games or sporting events
respectively; and
iv) the trading risk within the LBO estate
is pro-actively monitored and managed
by a dedicated trading team.

General Economic and Regulatory
Environment
The disposable income of customers and
their leisure activity preferences are and
will be affected by both these matters.
The Group regularly reviews its product
offering and engages with its customers
to ensure it provides value for money
and meets its customers’ needs.
The regulatory environment has, in recent
years, undergone significant change both:
i) in the UK, with for example, the
implementation of the Gambling Act
2005, changes to the taxation regime
on casinos and the introduction of
the smoking ban; and
ii) overseas, in terms of local governments’
approach to gambling regulation.
Future changes to the legislative, regulatory
and fiscal environments both in the UK and
overseas may impact the Group’s operations.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
Employee Retention
The Group’s performance depends
largely on its divisional, regional and
local management and its local staff.
The resignation of key individuals and/or
the inability to recruit staff with the
appropriate experience, skills or aptitude,
could adversely impact the Group’s results.
To mitigate these risks, the Group
has introduced training and learning
programmes for all employees and has
also implemented a number of local,
divisional and group incentive and bonus
schemes to motivate staff and retain
key employees.

For all the directors at the time this report
was approved, the following applies:
i) so far as each director is aware,
there is no relevant audit information
of which the Company’s auditors
are unaware; and
ii) each director has taken all the steps
that they ought to have taken as a
director in order to make them aware
of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company’s
auditors are aware of that information.
By order of the Board

J J T Cronk
Company Secretary
4 December 2008
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board believes that effective corporate
governance is a fundamental aspect of
a well-run company and is committed to
maintaining high standards. The following
paragraphs set out the Company’s key
governance structures.

Board Constitution and Procedures
The Board currently comprises the
Chairman, the Deputy Chairman, the Chief
Executive and the Chief Financial Officer
in addition to seven non-executive directors.
Candover, Cinven and Permira each have
two non-executive directors representing
them on the Board. Further information on
the directors is provided in the biographies
on pages 20 and 21.
There is a clear division of responsibilities
at the head of the Company with the
Chairman being primarily responsible
for the effective running of the Board and
for communications with all directors and
shareholders. He ensures that the Board
receives sufficient information on financial
trading and corporate issues prior to
board meetings. The Chief Executive
is responsible for day-to-day operations
and the development, together with
other executives, of strategic plans for
consideration by the Board as a whole.
Appropriate insurance cover is in place
in respect of any legal action against the
Company and its directors.
The Board has a schedule of matters which
are reserved for its decision. Such matters
include, but are not limited to, the overall
direction, long-term objectives and strategy
of the Group, final approval of the annual
budget and strategy, major acquisitions
and disposals, material contracts, and
any changes to the Company’s financing
arrangements and financial policies. Board
meetings are held regularly throughout
the year. Papers for meetings are circulated
in advance and if a director is unable to

attend a particular meeting he will still
receive a full copy of all documents and
have an opportunity to comment on the
matters to be discussed. Where urgent
decisions are required on matters specifically
reserved for the Board in between scheduled
meetings, there is a process in place to
facilitate discussion and decision making.
The directors also have access to the advice
and services of the Group Company Secretary.
Appropriate induction and subsequent
training is available for all new directors.

Board Committees
The Board has established two principal
committees; an audit and compliance
committee and a remuneration and
nomination committee. Both have clearly
defined duties with written terms of
reference that are approved by the Board.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The members of the audit and compliance
committee comprise Peter Catterall (the
committee Chairman), Marek Gumienny
and Charles Sherwood, all of whom are
non-executive directors. All members
have recent and relevant experience
for their roles.
The committee meets at least twice during
the financial year at appropriate times in
the reporting and audit cycle. In addition,
it will meet at such other times as the Board
or the committee Chairman requires, or if
requested by the external auditor or by two
members. Only committee members have
the right to attend meetings but other
individuals, including the Chief Executive,
Chief Financial Officer and heads of risk
management, compliance and internal
audit, can be, and regularly are, invited to
attend all or any part of any meeting as and
when appropriate to their area of expertise.
External auditors are invited to attend
meetings on a regular basis.
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The committee has access to sufficient
resources to carry out its duties, including
the services of the Group Company Secretary
who acts as secretary to the committee.
Independent legal or professional advice
can be taken by the committee if it believes
it is necessary to do so.
The committee’s responsibilities include
the review and approval of: the Company’s
Annual and Interim Reports; any
announcements regarding financial
performance; and significant financial
returns to regulators.
The committee also oversees the
relationship with the external auditors.
It meets with them regularly, reviews
their audit plan and discusses audit findings
with them. The committee also approves
the policy on the supply of non-audit
services by the external auditors, taking
into account any relevant ethical guidance
on the matter. The auditors have confirmed
for the year under review that they consider
themselves to be independent in their
professional judgement.
In addition, the committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and risk management systems
and also ensures that there is proportionate
and independent investigation of any
matters that are brought to its attention.
The committee monitors and reviews the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit function (which is outsourced to
KPMG) in the context of the overall risk
management system, ensuring it has
adequate resources and appropriate access
to information to enable it to perform
its function effectively. Management’s
responsiveness to the findings and
recommendations of the internal auditors
is also monitored.
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In addition to financial, internal control
and audit matters the committee is also
responsible for monitoring regulatory and
legal compliance matters. It reviews the
structure and effectiveness of the Group’s
compliance reporting team, ensuring in
particular that it allows for assessment and
reporting of all legal and compliance activity
independently of operational management.
On a regular basis the Company Secretary
provides briefings on developments and
changes to the regulatory and legal
environment, requirements of regulatory
bodies (in particular the UK Gambling
Commission), licensing, health and safety
issues and other issues as requested by
the committee.
If the committee’s activities reveal any
issues of concern or scope for improvement,
it will make recommendations to the Board
on actions needed to address the issue
raised or make the necessary improvement.

Remuneration and Nomination
Committee
The remuneration and nomination
committee is chaired by Martin Clarke
and its other members are Marek Gumienny
and Guy Davison, all of whom are
non-executive directors.
The committee meets at least once a year
and will also meet at such other times
as the Board or committee Chairman may
require or at the request of two members.
Only members of the committee have
the right to attend meetings but other
individuals, such as the Chief Executive,
may be invited to attend from time
to time, when appropriate.

for the remuneration of the Chairman,
Chief Executive, and the executive directors.
The objective of such policy is to ensure
that the executive directors are provided
with appropriate incentives to encourage
enhanced performance and are, in a fair
and responsible manner, rewarded for their
individual contributions to the Company’s
success. In doing this the committee
will ensure that contractual terms and
payments on termination are fair to
individual executive directors and the
Company and, importantly, that failure
is not rewarded. The committee will also
review the design of share incentive and
performance related pay plans for approval
by the Board and will review the Group’s
remuneration policies as a whole and
remuneration trends across the Group.
In respect of nomination issues the
committee’s remit includes:
i) reviewing the size, structure and
composition of the Board on a regular
basis and making appropriate
recommendations to the Board;
ii) considering succession planning
for directors;

The committee is authorised to obtain, at
the expense of the Company, outside legal
or professional advice on any matters within
its terms of reference and has access to the
services of the Group Company Secretary.

Internal Controls
The Board has overall responsibility for
the systems of internal control, which
are designed to manage the risk of failure
to achieve the objectives of the business,
where such risk cannot be eliminated.
The Group’s executive Risk Management
Committee, which comprises senior
executives and is chaired by the Chief
Executive, has put in place a framework for
identifying and managing major business
risks on an on-going basis and monitors
the effectiveness of the controls. During the
year, to reflect the importance of this area
and to ensure proactive and consistent
management, a new role of Risk and
Compliance Director was created.
The Board has considered the systems
of internal control for the accounting year
under review and has received reports from
the risk management committee and KPMG,
the internal auditors, on the processes and
systems in place.

iii) identifying and nominating candidates
to fill Board vacancies as and when
they arise; and
iv) keeping under review the leadership
needs of the organisation with a view
to ensuring the continued ability of
the organisation to compete effectively
in the marketplace.

In respect of remuneration issues the
committee’s remit includes determining
and agreeing with the Board the policy
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect
of the Annual Report and the Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members
of Gala Coral Group Limited

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of Gala Coral
Group Limited for the year ended 27 September 2008 which comprise the Group profit and loss account,
the Group and Company balance sheets, the Group cash flow statement, the Group statement of total
recognised gains and losses, the reconciliation of movement in Group shareholders’ funds, the reconciliation
of net cash flow to movement in net debt and the related notes. These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial period. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). The financial
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and Group
and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors
are required to:
G

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

G

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

G

G

state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Group will continue in business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements.
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Company and of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
By order of the Board

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion,
has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235
of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion
the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements. The information
given in the directors’ report includes that specific information presented in the Chairman’s statement,
the Chief Executive’s review, the divisional review and the financial review, that is cross referenced from the
business review section of the directors’ report. In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial statements. This other information comprises only the overview, the Chairman’s statement,
the Chief Executive’s review, the Corporate Responsibility report, the report on Gala Coral’s people, the
divisional review, the Board of Directors, the financial review, the directors’ report, the other information
and the corporate governance report. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do
not extend to any other information.

Basis of Audit Opinion
J J T Cronk
Company Secretary
4 December 2008
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We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued
by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members
of Gala Coral Group Limited continued
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity
or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information
in the financial statements.
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Group Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended 27 September 2008

Notes

Turnover
Cost of sales

Opinion

Gross profit
Administrative expenses

In our opinion:

Operating profit before other operating income

G

Operating profit before other operating income, analysed as:
Before exceptional items
Acquisition and integration costs
Restructuring and reorganisation costs
Retirement benefit plan changes
Impairment of clubs and casinos
Property-related income
Legal and licensing costs

the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the Group’s and the Company’s affairs as at 27 September
2008 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended;

G

the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

G

the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.

2

5
5
5,28
5
5
5

Operating profit before other operating income

2007
£m

1,268.5
(290.6)

1,309.9
(286.3)

977.9
(889.1)

1,023.6
(728.0)

88.8

295.6

247.8
(3.0)
(39.8)
24.5
(140.0)
2.3
(3.0)

301.0
(2.4)
(2.5)
–
–
2.2
(2.7)

88.8

295.6

3

4.9

11.2

Operating profit
Profit on disposal of subsidiary undertaking
Profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets

2,3
5
5

93.7
–
1.9

306.8
4.5
(1.4)

Profit before interest and tax
Interest payable and similar charges
Interest receivable and similar income
Other finance costs

7(a)
7(a)
7(b)

95.6
(497.6)
6.2
(0.8)

309.9
(445.0)
7.7
(0.2)

Loss on ordinary activities before tax
Tax (charge)/credit

8

(396.6)
(6.8)

(127.6)
7.5

23

(403.4)

(120.1)

Other operating income
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
4 December 2008

2008
£m

Loss for the financial year
All operations are continuing.

There are no material differences between the loss on ordinary activities before tax and the loss for the
financial year and their historical cost equivalents.
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Group Balance Sheet
As at 27 September 2008

for the year ended 27 September 2008

Group Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses
Notes

Loss for the year
Net foreign exchange adjustments offset in reserves
Actuarial (loss)/gain on pension schemes
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension scheme
Total recognised losses for the year

28

2008
£m

2007
£m

(403.4)
–
(23.9)
6.7

(120.1)
0.4
26.1
(7.8)

(420.6)

(101.4)

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments
Current assets
Stocks
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Notes

2008
£m

2007
£m

9
10
11

1,455.6
2,238.4
1.1

1,506.7
2,382.8
–

3,695.1

3,889.5

3.9
75.5
149.6

4.2
77.4
100.6

229.0

182.2

(223.3)

(185.2)

5.7

(3.0)

12
13

Reconciliation of Movement in Group Shareholders’ Funds
2008
£m

2007
£m

Total recognised losses for the year
Share-based payments

(420.6)
0.1

(101.4)
0.3

Total reduction in shareholders’ funds during the year
Opening shareholders’ deficit

(420.5)
(302.1)

(101.1)
(201.0)

Closing shareholders’ deficit

(722.6)

(302.1)

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

14

Net current assets/(liabilities)
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Provisions for liabilities and charges

15
21

Net liabilities excluding net pension asset
Net pension asset

28

Net liabilities including net pension asset
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Reserve for own shares
Profit and loss account
Shareholders’ deficit

22
22
22
23

3,700.8
3,886.5
(4,409.6) (4,192.6)
(39.4)
(13.0)
(748.2)
25.6

(319.1)
17.0

(722.6)

(302.1)

0.4
33.6
(0.8)
(755.8)

0.4
33.6
(0.8)
(335.3)

(722.6)

(302.1)

The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 4 December 2008 and are signed
on its behalf by:

G W Hughes
4 December 2008
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Company Balance Sheet

Group Cash Flow Statement

As at 27 September 2008

for the year ended 27 September 2008

Fixed assets
Investments
Current assets
Debtors

Notes

2008
£m

2007
£m

11

685.6

685.6

13

5.6

4.4

5.6

4.4

691.2
(1,015.8)

15

Net liabilities
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Reserve for own shares
Profit and loss accoun
Shareholders’ deficit

2008
£m

2007
£m

24(a)

314.2

391.3

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received
Interest paid
Finance costs incurred in raising debt

5.0
(240.0)
(2.0)

6.6
(231.9)
(10.0)

690.0
(878.4)

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance

(237.0)

(235.3)

(324.6)

(188.4)

Taxation
Corporation tax paid

(0.5)

(0.3)

0.4
33.6
(0.8)
(357.8)

0.4
33.6
(0.8)
(221.6)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Payments to acquire tangible and intangible fixed assets
Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets
Purchase of trade investment

(55.2)
2.8
(1.1)

(130.7)
2.7
-

(324.6)

(188.4)

Net cash outflow for capital expenditure and financial investment

(53.5)

(128.0)

–
–
–
–

34.8
(15.8)
(23.6)
0.3

–

(4.3)

23.2

23.4

124.5
(98.7)

451.1
(474.7)

25.8

(23.6)

49.0

(0.2)

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Notes

22
22
22
23

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 4 December 2008 and are signed
on its behalf by.

Acquisitions and disposals
Disposal of business
Net cash disposed of with business
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings
Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings

11

5
5

Net cash outflow for acquisitions and disposals
G W Hughes
4 December 2008

Net cash inflow before financing
Financing
Increase in long-term loans
Repayment of long-term loans

24(c)
24(c)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing
Increase/(decrease) in cash
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Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Debt

Notes to the Accounts

for the year ended 27 September 2008

for the year ended 29 September 2008

Notes

2008
£m

2007
£m

1 Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation

Increase/(decrease) in cash
(Increase)/decrease in long-term loans net of debt issue costs

24(b)
24(b)

49.0
(23.8)

(0.2)
33.6

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows
Other non-cash movements

24(b)

25.2
(258.8)

33.4
(208.6)

Movement in net debt
Opening net debt

24(b)

(233.6)
(175.2)
(4,106.8) (3,931.6)

Closing net debt

24(b)

(4,340.4) (4,106.8)

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, the accounting policies set out
below, and in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom and the Companies
Act 1985, except as regards the specific provisions of the Act relating to the amortisation of goodwill as
explained below. The accounting policies have been consistently applied to both of the years presented
in these financial statements
The Company has utilised the exemption from disclosing intra-group transactions which is offered by
FRS 8 “Related Party Transactions”.

Basis of Consolidation
The Group accounts comprise the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant interCompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. No profit and loss account
is presented for Gala Coral Group Limited as permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.
The loss dealt with in the accounts of the Company was £136.3 million (2007: £122.2 million).

Turnover
Turnover results from the operation of bookmakers, bingo clubs, online gaming and casinos. Gaming
revenue is net win, which is calculated as bets placed less amounts won by customers. Gaming revenue
is stated net of any VAT, but before the deduction of gaming duty. Revenues from the sale of food and
beverages are recorded net of VAT.
The Group operates betting establishments in Italy via franchise partners. Under the terms of the franchise
agreements, the Group bears the risks and rewards of the operations and therefore the Group acts as
principal. As a result, the Group recognises the full gross win generated from these operations in turnover.
Turnover is shown net of the cost of loyalty scheme points issued and redeemed. In respect of the Fortune
loyalty scheme, as points are issued to customers, the retail value of those points expected to be redeemed
is deferred. When the points are used by customers they are recorded as turnover.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales primarily comprises the costs of gaming duties and bingo prizes. Cost of sales also includes
the revenue share payments to franchisees.

Goodwill
Goodwill is the difference between the amount paid on the acquisition of a business and the aggregate
fair value of its separable net assets. Except as noted below, goodwill is capitalised and amortised over
its estimated useful life of up to 20 years. Where a business is sold, the net book value of goodwill allocated
to the business is charged through the profit and loss account as part of the profit or loss on disposal.
However, the directors have concluded that goodwill arising on the acquisition of its “bricks and mortar”
gaming and LBO (Licensed Betting Office) businesses should not be amortised as it has an indefinite useful
economic life. The goodwill is considered to have indefinite durability that can be demonstrated and its
value can be readily measured.
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Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 29 September 2008

1 Accounting Policies continued

1 Accounting Policies continued

The acquired businesses operate in longstanding and profitable market sectors. The directors do not consider
that the industry is threatened by new entrants or competing products. The Group has a strong position in
the market and there are barriers to entry due to the requirement to demonstrate that the applicant is a fit
and proper person with the “know-how” required to run such operations. The regulation of the industry also
restricts the games that can be offered and consequently reduces the risk of product obsolescence.

Freehold buildings
Leasehold land and buildings
Fixtures, fittings and office equipment
Computer hardware and software
Vehicles

Annual impairment reviews of this goodwill are carried out and any resulting write down is charged to
the profit and loss account.

The residual values of buildings are estimated on the following basis, having regard to the construction
type and salvage values:

The non-amortisation of this goodwill constitutes a departure from the Companies Act 1985 4 Sch21,
for the purpose of giving a true and fair view of the Group’s results for the reasons outlined above.
If goodwill arising on these acquisitions had been amortised over a 20-year period, the operating profit
would have decreased by £39.6 million for the year ended 27 September 2008 (2007: £41.2 million).
Cumulatively, goodwill would have been amortised by £168.4 million (2007: £128.8 million).

Listed buildings
Buildings of traditional construction
Steel framed buildings

Trademarks
The Group capitalises trademarks at their fair value on acquisition. The Coral trademarks are not
amortised as their useful life as been assessed as indefinite. An indefinite useful life has been chosen
for the same reasons as detailed in the accounting policy for goodwill. If the Coral trademarks had been
amortised over a 20-year period, the operating profit would have decreased by £8.3 million for the year
ended 27 September 2008 (2007: £8.3 million). Cumulatively, trademarks would have been amortised
by £24.9 million (2007: £16.6 million).

Licences
The Group capitalises licences at cost. The Italian licences are amortised over their initial term which
is nine years.

–
–
–
–
–

50 years
shorter of 50 years and unexpired term of lease
over three to ten years
over three to ten years
over three to five years

– 80%
– 50%
– 0%

Impairment Reviews
Tangible assets The need for any fixed-asset impairment provision is assessed by comparison of the
carrying value of an income-generating unit, which normally comprises bingo clubs, casinos or LBOs
which operate as a team within a market place, against the higher of the net realisable value or value
in use. In addition, sites or groups of sites are considered separately where there have been exceptional
circumstances impacting on their profitability that may indicate a material impairment at that level.
The value in use is determined from the estimated discounted future cash flows of the incomegenerating unit.
Intangible assets The need for any intangible asset impairment provision is assessed by comparison
of the carrying value of the aggregate of all the income generating units acquired in a single acquisition
and the related intangible assets with their combined value in use. The value in use is determined from
the estimated discounted future cash flows of the acquired business.

Tangible Fixed Assets and Depreciation
For buildings that have been acquired as part of a business acquisition, the initial carrying value
and residual value include the trading potential of the properties, which includes the benefit of
the gaming licences attached to trading properties. Subsequent additions to tangible fixed assets
are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, with the exception of freehold
land and trading potential, at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value,
of each asset evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:

For both tangible and intangible assets the future cash flows are based on the forecasts and budgets
of the income-generating unit or business. The key assumptions within the budgets for the bingo and
casino divisions are the admissions levels, spend or drop per head, win percentage for the casino business,
wage increases and the fixed costs of the bingo club or casino. The key assumptions within the budgets
for the Coral and Italy (International) division are the average number of machines per shop, gross win
per shop per week, wage increases and the fixed costs of the licensed betting offices. The key assumptions
within the budgets for the E-Commerce division are the number of active customers, turnover per head,
win percentage, revenue shares and operating costs.

Investments
Investments are stated at cost less any necessary provision against their carrying value for diminution
in value.

Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 29 September 2008

1 Accounting Policies continued

1 Accounting Policies continued

Deferred Taxation

Other Property Provisions

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date which will result in an obligation
to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax with the following exceptions:

Provision has been made for the cost of carrying out remedial works in respect of the Group’s freehold
or leasehold properties when the Group is legally obliged to rectify the matter.

G

G

G

Pensions
provision is made for tax on gains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments)
of fixed assets, and gains on disposal of fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets,
only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, there is a binding agreement to dispose of the assets
concerned. However, no provision is made where, on the basis of all available evidence at the balance
sheet date, it is more likely than not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into replacement assets
and charged to tax only where the replacement assets are sold;
provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas
subsidiaries only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as
receivable; and
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the directors consider it is more likely than
not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing
differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is calculated on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods
in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

Leasing and Hire Purchase Commitments
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line basis up to the date of the
next rental review. There are no assets held under finance leases.

The Group operates the Gala Coral Pension Plan. The scheme has a defined benefit section and a defined
contribution section. The assets of the scheme are managed separately from those of the Group.
The defined benefit section of the scheme is closed to new entrants.
For the defined benefit pension scheme, the Group has adopted the provisions of FRS17 amended
“Retirement Benefits” in that the amounts charged to operating profit are the current service costs. They are
included as part of staff costs. Past service costs are recognised immediately in the profit and loss account
if the benefits have vested. If the benefits have not vested immediately, the costs are recognised over the
period until vesting occurs. The interest cost and the expected return on assets are shown as a net amount
within interest. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the statement of total recognised
gains and losses.
Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using
the projected unit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high-quality
corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme liabilities. Actuarial valuations are obtained
every three years and are updated at each balance sheet date.
For the defined contribution pension scheme, the amounts charged to the profit and loss account in respect
of pension costs and other post-retirement benefits, represents the contributions payable in the period as
per the payment certificates. Differences between contributions payable in the period and contributions
actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments.

Financial Instruments
Rentals receivable under operating leases are recognised in the profit and loss account within other
operating income when earned.

The Group uses financial instruments to hedge the risk associated with interest rates. Interest differentials
on financial instruments are recognised by adjusting net interest payable. Gains or losses on the hedges
are recognised in the period to which they relate.

Lease incentives are spread over the period up to the first rent review where market rate rents are applied.

Lease Provisions

Borrowings are carried at their issue proceeds net of finance costs, less amounts repaid. Finance costs are
amortised over the life of the related borrowing.

Provision has been made for vacant, partly sub-let leasehold properties and onerous leases. Any creation
or release of these provisions is included within operating exceptionals. For the vacant and sub-let properties,
provision has been made for the shorter of the remaining period of the lease, which at 27 September 2008
is an average of 14 years (2007: 16 years), and the period until, in the directors’ opinion the Group will
be able to exit the lease commitment. The amount provided is based on the future rental obligations,
together with other outgoings, net of any sub-lease income.
Provision has been made on a discounted cash flow basis for onerous leases based on the element of the
rental payments which are considered to be onerous.
In determining the provision for the properties, the cash flows have been discounted on a pre-tax basis
using a risk-free discount rate.
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1 Accounting Policies continued

2 Segmental Analysis

Foreign Currencies

The Group operates five divisions – Coral, Gala Bingo, Gala Casinos, E-Commerce and International.
The E-Commerce division operates online sports betting, casinos and other gaming products.
The International division comprises betting shops in Italy and online sports betting. Comparatives
have been restated to ensure consistency of the prior year results of those divisions.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the prevailing rate of
exchange on the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into sterling at period end rates of exchange. Exchange differences are taken to the profit
and loss account.
The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated at the closing exchange rates.
Profit and loss accounts of such undertakings are consolidated at the average rates of exchange during
the year. Gains and losses arising on these translations are taken to reserves.
Where the Group hedges net investments in foreign operations through currency borrowings, the gains
or losses on the translation of the borrowings are recognised in reserves.

The revenue of Gala Bingo and Coral arises solely within the United Kingdom. The revenue of Gala Casinos
arises in the United Kingdom and Gibraltar, but has been presented as a single geographical segment
because the revenue of the Gibraltar operation is not significant. The revenue of the E-Commerce business
arises in Europe. Its customers are primarily located in the United Kingdom and Mainland Europe. Due to
the nature of the E-Commerce business, it is not possible to split the net assets by geographical category.
The revenue of International arises in Europe, primarily Italy.
Turnover and Group operating profit and net assets are analysed as follows:

Share-based Payments
Certain employees of the Group (including directors) with more than one year’s service receive
remuneration in the form of equity settled share based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services in exchange for share options. The options are exercisable upon a change of control
of the Group.
The cost of equity settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value of the employee services received, which is determined by use of the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, is recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account with
a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period. At each balance sheet date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of share options that are expected to vest, with any revisions
being recognised in the profit and loss account.

Area of Activity

Turnover
Coral
Gala Bingo
Gala Casinos
E-Commerce
International

2008
£m

2007
£m
as restated

670.1
345.5
143.1
81.0
28.8

592.9
456.6
171.8
87.0
1.6

1,268.5

1,309.9

Operating profit/(loss)
Coral
Gala Bingo
Gala Casinos
E-Commerce
International

192.0
65.2
10.1
40.5
(1.5)

185.8
110.8
20.5
38.4
(4.7)

Segment operating profit 1
Group administrative expenses
Group other operating income
Exceptional items (note 5)

306.3
(58.5)
4.9
(159.0)

350.8
(49.8)
11.2
(5.4)

93.7

306.8

362.1

401.8

Operating profit
EBITDA before exceptional items

2

1 Segment operating profit is stated before goodwill amortisation, which primarily relates to the E-Commerce division.
2 Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and the exceptional items shown in note 5.
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for the year ended 29 September 2008

2 Segmental Analysis continued

3 Operating Profit

Geographical Area

Turnover by origin
United Kingdom
Europe
Operating profit
United Kingdom
Europe
Segment operating profit
Group administrative expenses
Group other operating income
Exceptional items

This is stated after charging:
2008
£m

2007
£m

1,210.3
58.2

1,267.9
42.0

1,268.5

1,309.9

297.5
8.8

342.9
7.9
350.8
(49.8)
11.2
(5.4)

93.7

306.8

2008
£m

2007
£m

Coral
Gala Bingo
Gala Casinos
E-Commerce
International

1,594.7
346.9
155.9
6.3
13.2

1,408.5
394.7
230.4
9.1
5.1

Parent company and non-operational net liabilities

2,117.0
2,047.8
(2,839.6) (2,349.9)

Net Assets/(Liabilities) by Segment

Total net liabilities

(722.6)

(302.1)

Net Assets/(Liabilities) by Geographical Area
2008
£m

2007
£m

UK
Europe

2,095.7
21.3

2,035.0
12.8

Parent company and non-operational net liabilities

2,117.0
2,047.8
(2,839.6) (2,349.9)

Total net liabilities

2007
£m

Gala Bingo
Coral
Gala Casinos
E-Commerce
International

27.5
31.4
13.6
4.3
2.2

25.9
19.5
12.7
1.3
2.1

Amortisation
Operating lease rentals – land and buildings
Hire of plant and machinery

79.0
30.4
54.1
36.5

61.5
28.1
51.9
39.7

Depreciation of owned assets

306.3
(58.5)
4.9
(159.0)

Operating profit

2008
£m

(722.6)

Other operating income comprises property rents receivable and payments received on the assignment
of leasehold properties.
Services Provided by the Group’s Auditors
During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and network firms as detailed below:
2008
£m

2007
£m

Audit services:
Fees payable for the audit of the Company and Group accounts

0.1

0.1

Other services:
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation
Compliance services
Services relating to corporate finance transactions (included in issue costs)
Taxation services
Advisory services

0.2
–
0.6
0.1
–

0.2
0.1
–
–
0.1

1.0

0.5

(302.1)

Parent company and non-operational net liabilities comprise goodwill, certain accruals and prepayments,
net debt and taxation.
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4 Directors’ Remuneration

5 Exceptional Items continued

Aggregate emoluments
Company contributions to private pension schemes

Members of defined benefit schemes

2008
£m

2007
£m

1.6
0.2

1.7
0.2

1.8

1.9

2008
Number

2007
Number

–

1

2008
£m

2007
£m

0.6
0.1

0.5
0.1

Emoluments of highest paid director are as follows:

Emoluments (excluding pension contributions)
Company contributions to private pension schemes
No director exercised any share options during the year.

No retirement benefits are accruing to directors under the Group’s defined benefit scheme or under the
Group’s money purchase scheme.

Exceptional Items Charged/(Credited) After Operating Profit
1) Profit/(loss) on Disposal of Fixed Assets
Includes the profit and loss on disposal of property improvements on various leasehold and freehold
properties which were disposed of during the year. In the year ended 29 September 2007 there was also
a loss on disposal of fixed assets of £1.4 million relating to the disposal of property improvements on two
leasehold properties and one freehold property.
2) Profit on Disposal of Subsidiary Undertaking
The prior year exceptional gain of £4.5 million related to the disposal of the Group’s entire shareholding
in Gala Hotel and Casino (Isle of Man) Limited.

6 Staff Costs
2008
£m

2007
£m

Wages and salaries
Redundancies

276.2
4.5

270.5
2.0

Social security costs
Other pension (income)/costs
Share-based payment charge

280.7
21.4
(15.0)
0.1

272.5
20.7
10.2
0.3

287.2

303.7

2008
Number

2007
Number

11,156
5,001
2,938
227
62
572

9,234
6,293
3,223
169
16
457

19,956

19,392

5 Exceptional Items
Exceptional Items Charged/(Credited) to Operating Profit
Notes

Acquisition and integration costs
Restructuring and reorganisation costs
Retirement benefit plan changes
Property-related income
Impairment of clubs and casinos
Legal and licensing costs
Total charged to loss on ordinary activities before taxation

a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

2008
£m

2007
£m

3.0
39.8
(24.5)
(2.3)
140.0
3.0

2.4
2.5
–
(2.2)
–
2.7

159.0

5.4

No tax credit has been claimed in relation to the exceptional charge as the Group is loss making.
a) Fees and costs in relation to the integration of Coral into other operations.
b) Redundancy costs, vacant lease provision creation on closed clubs and casinos and fees incurred on the Bingo and Casino
restructuring in the year.
c) The one-off credit to pension costs arose due to the change in calculating final pensions payable based on career average
revalued earnings rather than final salaries.
d) Release of property provisions.
e) Write down of £93.3 million of tangible fixed assets and £26.8 million of goodwill as a result of an impairment review,
and write down of £19.9 million of tangible fixed assets on closure of clubs and casinos.
f) One-off costs incurred as a result of changes in the licensing regime and due to the Gambling Act 2005.
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The monthly average number of employees during the period was made up as follows:

Coral
Gala Bingo
Gala Casinos
E-Commerce
International
Support Staff

All the Bingo and Coral employees are based solely in the United Kingdom. The employees of the Casinos,
E-Commerce and Support staff are principally based in the United Kingdom with a small number of Casino
and E-Commerce employees and associated support staff in Gibraltar. The employees of the International
division are primarily based in Italy.
The Company did not have any employees during the year (2007: nil).
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7 Interest

8 Tax on Loss on Ordinary Activities continued

a) Interest
2008
£m

2007
£m

Bank loan interest
Exceptional bank loan amendment fees on refinancing
Mezzanine interest
Loan note interest
Dividends on preferred ordinary and C preference shares
Amortisation of debt issue costs
Write off of debt issue costs on early repayments

(180.7)
(13.1)
(71.6)
(76.5)
(137.5)
(15.9)
(2.3)

(185.9)
–
(66.1)
(58.1)
(121.9)
(13.0)
–

Interest payable and similar charges

(497.6)

(445.0)

Bank interest
Other interest receivable and similar income

5.0
1.2

6.3
1.4

Interest receivable and similar income

6.2

7.7

(491.4)

(437.3)

Net interest payable
b) Other Finance Costs

2008
£m

2007
£m

Unwinding of discount in provisions
Other finance income/(costs) in relation to the pension scheme (note 28)

(1.3)
0.5

(0.1)
(0.1)

Other finance costs

(0.8)

(0.2)

8 Tax on Loss on Ordinary Activities

2007
£m

Loss on ordinary activities before tax

(396.6)

(127.6)

Loss on ordinary activities at average standard rate
of UK corporation tax for the period of 29% (2007: 30%)
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Difference in depreciation and capital allowances
Other timing differences
Tax losses available to carry forward

(115.0)
–
93.0
16.6
(13.7)
19.2

(38.3)
(0.1)
47.3
(3.4)
(5.2)
–

Current tax charge for the period
Deferred tax movement in period

0.1
6.7

0.3
(7.8)

Tax charge/(credit) on loss on ordinary activities

6.8

(7.5)

2008
£m

2007
£m

(6.7)

7.8

c) Tax on Recognised Gains and Losses Not Included in the Profit and Loss Account

Deferred tax (credit)/charge relating to pension scheme
d) Factors That May Affect Future Tax Charges
Unrecognised deferred tax is disclosed at 28%, the tax rate applicable to future periods.

The Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £78.5 million (2007: £76.9 million) (see note 21).
2008
£m

2007
£m

UK Corporation tax at 29% (2007: 30%):
Current year
Prior years

0.1
–

0.4
(0.1)

Total current tax

0.1

0.3

Deferred taxation: origination and reversal of timing differences
Current year

6.7

(7.8)

Total deferred tax

6.7

(7.8)

Tax charge/(credit) on loss on ordinary activities

6.8

(7.5)
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2008
£m

The Group expects to be able to claim capital allowances in excess of depreciation in future periods.

a) The Taxation Charge/(credit) is Made up as Follows:

52

b) Factors Affecting Current Tax Charge
The effective tax rate for the period is higher than the average standard rate of UK corporation tax for
the period. The differences are reconciled below:

No provision has been made for deferred tax on gains recognised on revaluing properties to fair values
on acquisition or on the sale of properties where potentially taxable gains have been rolled over into
replacement assets. Such tax would become payable only if the properties were sold without it being
possible to claim rollover relief. The total amount unprovided for is £230.0 million (2007: £267.9 million).
At present it is not envisaged that any such tax will become payable in the foreseeable future.
Provision is only made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas
subsidiaries to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as receivable.
No dividends have been accrued as receivable at either 27 September 2008 or 29 September 2007.
The total amount unprovided is £0.9 million (2007: £0.8 million).
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9 Intangible Assets

10 Tangible Fixed Assets

Group

Group
Italian
Licences
£m

Goodwill
£m

Trademarks
£m

Total
£m

Cost:
At 29 September 2007
Acquisitions
Exchange differences

26.3
2.3
3.8

1,370.9
–
–

166.0
–
–

1,563.2
2.3
3.8

At 27 September 2008

32.4

1,370.9

166.0

1,569.3

Amortisation:
At 29 September 2007
Provided during the year
Impairment

2.1
3.2
–

54.4
27.2
26.8

–
–
–

56.5
30.4
26.8

At 27 September 2008

5.3

108.4

–

113.7

Net book value at 27 September 2008

27.1

1,262.5

166.0

1,455.6

Net book value at 29 September 2007

24.2

1,316.5

166.0

1,506.7

Following the significant impact of the smoking ban in the UK, the loss of Section 21 gaming machines
and the changes to the Gambling Act, a site by site impairment review has been undertaken for the bingo
and casino divisions. The impairment review has been performed using a pre tax discount rate of 11% with
a terminal growth rate of 2% (see note 5).

Freehold
Land and
Buildings
£m

Leasehold
Land and
Buildings
£m

Fixtures,
Fittings,
Tools and
Equipment
£m

Total
£m

Cost:
At 29 September 2007
Additions
Write off fully written down assets
Exchange differences
Disposals

593.3
3.2
(1.9)
–
(0.8)

1,651.8
1.4
(19.5)
–
(1.1)

292.5
43.3
(26.3)
0.8
(0.9)

2,537.6
47.9
(47.7)
0.8
(2.8)

At 27 September 2008

593.8

1,632.6

309.4

2,535.8

Depreciation:
At 29 September 2007
Provided during the year
Impairment and closed club write down
Write off fully written down assets
Disposals

10.3
10.8
–
(1.9)
(0.2)

37.1
4.8
110.0
(19.5)
(1.0)

107.4
63.4
3.2
(26.3)
(0.7)

154.8
79.0
113.2
(47.7)
(1.9)

At 27 September 2008

19.0

131.4

147.0

297.4

Net book value at 27 September 2008

574.8

1,501.2

162.4

2,238.4

Net book value at 29 September 2007

583.0

1,614.7

185.1

2,382.8

2008
£m

2007
£m

235.8
1,265.4

243.6
1,371.1

1,501.2

1,614.7

The net book value of leasehold land and buildings comprises:

Long leasehold
Short leasehold

Included in freehold and leasehold land and buildings is land and trading potential at a value of
£1,908.9 million (2007: £1,990.2 million) which is not depreciated.
Following the significant impact of the smoking bans in the UK, the loss of section 21 gaming terminals
and the changes to the Gambling Act, a site by site impairment review has been undertaken for the bingo
and casino divisions. The impairment review has been performed using a pre-tax discount rate of 11% with
a terminal growth rate of 2% (see note 5).
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11 Investments

12 Stocks

Group

Group
Trade Investment
£m

Cost:
At 29 September 2007
Additions

–
1.1

Finished goods

At 27 September 2008

1.1

Company
Subsidiary
Undertakings
£m

The following information relates to those subsidiary undertakings whose results or financial position, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the results or financial position of the Group (the “principal subsidiaries”).
Nature of Business

Coral Racing Limited
Coral Stadia Limited
Eurobet (Gibraltar) Limited
Eurobet UK Limited
Gala (Alderney) Limited
Gala Casinos Limited
Gala County Clubs Limited
Gala Leisure Limited
Patmor Limited
Gala Casinos (Gibraltar) Limited
Romford Stadium Limited
Eurobet Italia SRL
Gala Group Finance Limited
Gala Group Two Limited
Gala Group Four Limited
Gala (Holdings) Limited
Eventday Limited

Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Provision of leisure activities
Finance company
Finance company
Finance company
Holding company
Holding company

3.9

4.2

2008
£m

2007
£m

1.4
9.9
14.0
50.2

0.6
6.6
11.7
58.5

75.5

77.4

2008
£m

2007
£m

5.6

4.4

2008
£m

2007
£m

82.1
8.3
17.9
9.5
27.6
15.6
62.3

16.0
3.4
28.6
10.1
31.5
21.8
73.8

223.3

185.2

13 Debtors

Trade debtors
Deferred tax asset (note 21)
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

685.6

Name of Company

2007
£m

Group

During the year the Group purchased 0.5% of the share capital of IW Technology Limited, a company
registered in the Cayman Islands.

Cost:
At 29 September 2007 and 27 September 2008

2008
£m

Company

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

14 Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year
Group

Current instalments due on bank loans (note 16)
Bank and loan note interest
Trade creditors
Corporation tax
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

All of the principal subsidiaries are registered in Great Britain with the exception of Eurobet (Gibraltar)
Limited, Gala (Alderney) Limited, Gala Casinos (Gibraltar) Limited and Eurobet Italia SRL. All of the principal
subsidiaries are 100% owned with all voting rights held within the Group. Gala Group Two Limited is directly
owned by the Company. The directors consider that to give full particulars of all subsidiary undertakings
would lead to a statement of excessive length.
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15 Creditors: Amounts Falling Due After More Than One Year

16 Bank Loans continued

Group

Bank loans (note 16)
Mezzanine debt (note 17)
Loan notes (note 18)
Other creditors

2008
£m

2007
£m

2,229.9
506.3
1,671.7
1.7

2,373.7
482.9
1,334.9
1.1

4,409.6

4,192.6

2008
£m

2007
£m

619.4
37.4
359.0

619.4
37.4
221.6

1,015.8

878.4

Company

C preference shares (note 22)
Preferred ordinary shares (note 22)
Dividends on C preference and preferred ordinary shares

The loan agreement in place at 27 September 2008 provides the Group with a term loan of £530 million,
repayable in instalments and maturing in 2012, a term loan of £710 million maturing in 2013, a term
loan of £710 million maturing in 2014, a term loan of £150 million maturing in 2015, a revolving facility
of £50 million until 2012 and a capital investment facility of £300 million until 2012.
In addition, the Group has a term loan of £373.4 million maturing in 2014, which is secured on certain
Group properties.
All facilities bear an interest rate of LIBOR plus a margin that ranges from 1.75% to 5.125%. The Group
also pays a 0.75% facility fee in respect of the unused portion of the revolving facility and capital
investment facility. The revolving facility is available to finance working capital requirements and for
general corporate purposes. Whilst no amounts have been drawn down on the revolving facility, £14.2 million
has been utilised through the issuance of letters of credit. £232.6 million has been drawn down on the
capital investment facility.
The loan agreements and the Mezzanine agreement (see note 17) require the Group to comply with certain
financial and non-financial covenants. The financial covenants include limitations on capital expenditure
and require the maintenance of certain minimum ratios of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation to interest payable, and cash flows to total funding costs. The bank loan and Mezzanine debt
are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the Group’s assets.

16 Bank Loans
17 Mezzanine

Group
2008
£m

58

2007
£m

Amounts falling due:
In one year or less or on demand
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
After more than five years

82.1
161.9
408.9
1,700.8

16.0
85.5
583.8
1,762.4

Less: issue costs

2,353.7
(41.7)

2,447.7
(58.0)

Less: included in creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2,312.0
(82.1)

2,389.7
(16.0)

2,229.9

2,373.7
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Group

Amounts falling due after more than five years, including rolled-up interest
Less: issue costs

2008
£m

2007
£m

517.0
(10.7)

495.1
(12.2)

506.3

482.9

The Mezzanine agreement in place at 27 September 2008 provides the Group with a term loan facility
of £460.0 million maturing in 2015. The Mezzanine facility bears interest at LIBOR plus 9.0% of which
4.625% is unpaid and added to the principal.
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18 Loan Notes

19 Financial Instruments continued
Fixed Rate Financial Liabilities

Group
Notes

Amounts falling due:
After more than five years:
PIK Notes (2005)
PIK Notes (2008)
Discounted loan notes
Rolled-up interest notes
C preference shares (notes 22)
Preferred ordinary shares (note 22)
Dividends on C preference and preferred ordinary shares
Less: issue costs

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

2008
£m

2007
£m

277.2
134.8
235.9
12.3
619.4
37.4
359.0

237.1
–
210.7
11.0
619.4
37.4
221.6

1,676.0
(4.3)

1,337.2
(2.3)

1,671.7

1,334.9

a) The 2005 PIK (Payment in Kind) notes were issued in October 2005. Interest accrues on the notes at 17% and is payable when the
notes are redeemed. The notes are unsecured and redeemable on 31 October 2015, or on the sale or public listing of the Group,
if earlier. They rank behind other secured debt.
b) The 2008 PIK (Payment in Kind) notes were issued in May 2008. Interest accrues on the notes at 23.8% and is payable when the notes
are redeemed. The notes are unsecured and redeemable on 30 October 2015, or on the sale or public listing of the Group, if earlier.
They rank behind other secured debt.
c) The discounted loan notes were issued between 17 March 2003 and 10 April 2003 at an issue price of 28.75% of the price on
redemption. The difference between the issue price and the redemption price is being accrued over the life of the discounted
loan notes. The discounted loan notes are unsecured and redeemable on 17 September 2015.
d) The rolled-up interest notes were issued on 17 March 2003. Interest accrues on the notes at 12% and is payable when the notes
are redeemed. The notes are unsecured and redeemable on 17 September 2015. They rank pari passu with the discounted
loan notes.

The terms of the C preference shares and the preferred ordinary shares are described in note 22.

19 Financial Instruments
For the purposes of the disclosures which follow in this note, short-term debtors and creditors which arise
directly from the Group’s operations have been excluded along with dividends on C preference shares and
preferred ordinary shares which do not meet the definition of a financial instrument. The Group’s lease
provisions are included in the following disclosures because, in establishing the lease provisions, the cash
flows have been discounted and the discount rate is reappraised at each year end to ensure that it reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of money.
Interest Rate Risk Profile of Financial Liabilities
The interest rate risk profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 27 September 2008 and at 29 September
2007, after taking account of the interest rate swap used to manage the interest rate profile of financial
liabilities, was:
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Total
£m

Floating Rate
Financial
Liabilities
£m

Fixed Rate
Financial
Liabilities
£m

Weighted
Average
Interest
Rate %

Weighted
Average
Term of
Fix Years

At 27 September 2008

4,228.7

1,634.8

2,593.9

11.99

2.94

At 29 September 2007

4,072.6

859.1

3,213.5

9.89

3.0

Interest Rate Risk Profile of Financial Assets
Cash held at bank earns interest at broadly 0.2% below the Bank of England base rate.
The Gambling Commission, which regulates the gambling industry in Great Britain, requires the Group
to maintain a gaming reserve to cover potential gaming losses. As part of the gaming reserve the Group
holds a restricted cash deposit of £2.5 million at 27 September 2008 (2007: £2.5 million).
In addition, the Group has issued £14.2 million (2007: £11.4 million) of letters of credit in favour of the
Italian Government.
Maturity Profile of Financial Instruments
The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the Group’s financial liabilities at 27 September 2008 and
at 29 September 2007 was as follows:

Amounts falling due:
In one year or less, or on demand
In more than one year but not more
than two years
In more than two years but not more
than five years
In more than five years
Finance charges allocated to
future periods
Total financial liabilities
Unamortised issue costs

Debt
2008
£m

Other
Financial
Liabilities
2008
£m

Total
2008
£m

Debt
2007
£m

Other
Financial
Liabilities
2007
£m

Total
2007
£m

82.1

7.2

89.3

16.0

3.1

19.1

161.9

6.0

167.9

85.5

0.7

86.2

408.8
3,534.8

16.4
43.1

425.2
3,577.9

583.8
3,373.2

2.7
12.2

586.5
3,385.4

4,187.6

72.7

4,260.3

4,058.5

18.7

4,077.2

–

(31.6)

(31.6)

–

(4.6)

(4.6)

4,187.6
(56.7)

41.1
–

4,228.7
(56.7)

4,058.5
(72.5)

14.1
–

4,072.6
(72.5)

4,130.9

41.1

4,172.0

3,986.0

14.1

4,000.1

The Group maintains banking facilities to mitigate any liquidity risk it may face. The Group has £103.1 million
undrawn borrowing facilities available at 27 September 2008 (2007: £100.7 million). These facilities incur
commitment fees at 0.75%. The capex facility is available until April 2009 and the revolving facility is
available until October 2012.

GALA CORAL GROUP
ANNUAL REPORT 2008

61

SECTION

3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

Notes to the Accounts continued
for the year ended 29 September 2008

19 Financial Instruments continued

21 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges continued

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Book
Value
2008
£m

Derivative financial instruments held
to manage interest rate exposure:
Interest rate swaps
Interest rate cap

Fair
Value
2008
£m

(0.1)
–

Book
Value
2007
£m

9.1
–

(1.0)
3.9

Fair
Value
2007
£m

28.5
5.3

Capital allowances in advance of depreciation
Other timing differences
Deferred tax asset not recognised the accounts

Deferred tax asset shown in debtors
Deferred tax liability recognised against pension asset (note 28)

20 Obligations Under Leases

Deferred tax position

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Group

Operating leases which expire:
within one year
between two and five years
over five years

Deferred Taxation
Deferred taxation provided in the accounts is as follows:

Other
2008
£m

Land and
Buildings
2007
£m

Other
2007
£m

0.9
10.8
56.5

0.1
17.1
–

0.7
8.8
55.9

0.1
16.8
–

68.2

17.2

65.4

16.9

Land and
Buildings
2008
£m

There are no operating leases in the Company.

Group
Provision for
Legal Fees
Relating
Property
to Coral
Provisions Acquisition
£m
£m

Fortune
Loyalty
Scheme
£m

2007
£m

30.2
48.3
(78.5)

17.7
59.2
(76.9)

–

–

9.9
(9.9)

6.6
(6.6)

–

–

The deferred tax asset has not been fully recognised in the accounts as the Group does not expect to pay
corporation tax for the foreseeable future. The increase in the deferred tax asset arises mainly due to tax
losses not utilised in the year and disclaimed capital allowances. Deferred tax has been disclosed at 28%
(2007: 28%), the tax rate applicable in future periods.

22 Share Capital and Reserve for Own Shares
Group and Company

Authorised
Ordinary shares of 1 pence each (2007 – 1 pence)
Preferred ordinary shares of 0.02 pence each
C Preference shares of 1 pence each
Deferred shares of 0.02 pence each

21 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

2008
£m

2008
Number
000s

2007
Number
000s

2008
£000

2007
£000

40,687
45,784
619,368
7,341

40,687
45,784
619,368
7,341

407
9
6,194
1

407
9
6,194
1

713,180

713,180

6,611

6,611

Preferred
Ordinary C preference
Shares
Shares
Number
Number
000s
000s

Total
Number
000s

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Total
£m

At 29 September 2007
Arising during the year
Utilised
Released
Unwinding of discount

12.4
35.2
(8.1)
(2.3)
1.3

0.5
–
–
–
–

0.1
1.5
(1.2)
–
–

13.0
36.7
(9.3)
(2.3)
1.3

At 27 September 2008

38.5

0.5

0.4

39.4

Ordinary
Shares
Number
000s

At 29 September 2007 and 27 September 2008
Less: classified as debt (note 18)

40,687
–
40,687

44,755 619,368 704,810
(44,755) (619,368) (664,123)
–

–

40,687

The basis of the above provisions is described in the accounting policies (note 1).
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22 Share Capital and Reserve for Own Shares continued

Allotted, called up and fully paid

Warrants
The total number of warrants in issue at the year end was 1,029,998 (2007: 1,029,998). The warrants can be
exercised on the earlier of a sale, listing, change of control or unremedied breach of the Warrant Instrument,
at a subscription price of 0.02 pence per share (2007: 0.02 pence per share).

Share premium account
Ordinary
Shares
£000

At 29 September 2007
and
27 September 2008
407
Less: classified
as debt (note 18)
–
Equity share capital

407

Preferred
Ordinary
Shares
£000

C
Preference
Shares
£000

Ordinary
Shares
£000

Preferred
Ordinary
Shares
£000

C
Preference
Shares
£000

9

6,194

33,542

37,373

613,174

(756) 689,943

(9)

(6,194)

–

(37,373) (613,174)

– (656,750)

–

–

33,542

–

–

Own
Shares
£000

(756)

Total
£000

33,193

Preferred Ordinary Shares
The preferred ordinary shares carry a cumulative preferential dividend at the rate of 3.625% above LIBOR
per annum on £9.00 for each share. The dividend compounds on 27 October each year and is payable in
cash on the Redemption Date (as defined in the Company’s Articles of Association) immediately following
the redemption of all C preference shares.
The holders of the preferred ordinary shares carry the right at general meetings to one vote for every
share held.
On a winding up of the Company, following payments to holders of C preference shares but in preference
to payments to holders of ordinary shares, the preferred ordinary shareholders have the right to receive
£9.00 per share plus any accrued dividend.
C Preference Shares
The C preference shares are redeemable at the option of the Company upon 30 days’ prior written notice
or on a listing or sale of the Company, at £1.00 per share.

Share Options
The Gala Group Employee Share Trust was established in 2004 to issue share options to eligible employees
with more than one year’s service. The options are exercisable upon a change of control of the Group.
The trust holds 2,137,511 shares.
The share-based payments charge for the year was £0.1 million (2007: £0.3 million).
At 27 September 2008, the following share options were in issue by the trust.
Gala Group Approved Share Option Scheme 2004
Exercise
Price
per Share
£

1,095,072 1,286,570
340,442 340,442
32,067
43,301
39,952
39,952
119,706 141,580
110,854 138,589

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

0.21
0.31
0.37
0.41
9.00
9.00

Date of Issue

17 March 2004
1 January 2005
1 June 2005
29 July 2005
1 June 2006
13 April 2007

2008

The contractual life of the share options is until there is a change of control of the Group.
Movement in the number of share options are as follows:
2008

2007

Number

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
£

Number

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
£

At start of year
Granted
Forfeited

1,990,434
–
(252,341)

1.47
–
1.95

1,977,714
143,857
(131,137)

0.97
9.00
2.14

At end of year

1,738,093

1.40

1,990,434

1.47

The C preference shares carry a fixed cumulative preferential dividend of 12% per annum on £1.00 each
C preference share compounded on 27 October each year and is payable in cash in the redemption date.
The shares do not confer any further right of participation in the profits of the Company.
The preference shares hold no voting rights unless 1) the Company fails to redeem the shares on the
Redemption Date or 2) the business of a general meeting includes a resolution for the winding up of
the Company or reducing its share capital or a resolution adversely affecting, varying or abrogating any
of the special rights and privileges attaching to the shares or 3) there is an event or default under the
financing documents, in which event each holder will be entitled to one vote for each share held.

2007

Option
Price
per Share
p

Number
of Shares

On a winding up of the Company, in preference to payment to holders of preferred ordinary shares and
ordinary shares, the C preference shareholders have the right to receive £1.00 per share plus any accrued
fixed dividends.
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22 Share Capital and Reserve for Own Shares continued

24 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Gala Group Approved Share Option Scheme 2004
The fair value of share options granted is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant
inputs into the model were as follows:

a) Reconciliation of Operating Profit to Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities

Date of Issue

17 March 2004
1 January 2005
1 June 2005
29 July 2005
1 June 2006
13 April 2007

Value of
shares
Option
at Date Exercise
of Grant
Price
£
£

0.21
0.31
0.37
0.41
9.00
9.00

0.21
0.31
0.37
0.41
9.00
9.00

Estimated
Vesting
Period

Estimated
Option
Life

three years
three years
three years
three years
three years
three years

three years
three years
three years
three years
three years
three years

Expected
Volatility

33.5%
28.9%
28.2%
27.1%
21.6%
20.8%

Risk
Free
Rate of
Return

4.45%
4.47%
4.19%
4.18%
4.74%
5.41%

Dividend
Yield

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Fair
Value
per
Option
£

0.06
0.08
0.09
0.10
1.93
1.98

The expected volatility was determined by reference to historic volatilities taken as at the relevant date of
grant measured over a period of three years for a group of quoted comparator companies. The risk-free rate
of return is based on UK Government bond yields-to-maturity as at grant date. The expected remaining
life of the options was matched to the time to maturity of the bonds. There is a possibility of employees
ceasing employment before the share options have vested, in this instance the options would lapse.
Within the charge for share options it has been assumed that there are no leavers in the current year
and none in prior years. There are no performance criteria associated with these share options.
The options issued more than three years ago will not vest until a change of control or flotation of the Group.

23 Profit and Loss Account
Group
£m

2007
£m

Operating profit
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Share-based payment charge
Increase in debtors
Decrease/(increase) in stocks
(Decrease)/increase in creditors
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Non-cash movement relating to pensions

93.7
249.4
0.1
(2.9)
0.3
(17.5)
26.4
(35.3)

306.8
89.6
0.3
(23.6)
(0.3)
26.5
(9.3)
1.3

Net cash inflow from operating activities

314.2

391.3

b) Analysis of Net Debt
At
29 September
2007
£m

Cash
Flow
£m

Transfers
Between
Categories
£m

Cash at bank and in hand

100.6

49.0

–

Debt due within one year
Debt due after one year

(16.0)
(4,191.4)

16.0
(39.8)

(82.1)
82.1

–
(82.1)
(258.8) (4,407.9)

Total debt

(4,207.4)

(23.8)

–

(258.8) (4,490.0)

Net debt

(4,106.8)

25.2

–

(258.8) (4,340.4)

(335.3)
(403.4)
(23.9)
6.7
0.1

c) Movement in Total Debt

At 27 September 2008

(755.8)

£m

At 29 September 2007
Loss for the year
Share-based payment

(221.6)
(136.3)
0.1

At 27 September 2008

(357.8)

GALA CORAL GROUP
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Other
At
Non-cash 27 September
Movements
2008
£m
£m

–

149.6

Non-cash movements comprise amortisation and write off of issue costs relating to debt of £18.2 million,
the accrual of interest on discounted loan notes, mezzanine debt, preferred ordinary shares and C preference
shares of £236.3 million and foreign exchange loss on senior debt of £4.3 million.

At 29 September 2007
Loss for the year
Actuarial loss on pension scheme
Movement on deferred tax relating to pension asset
Share-based payment

Company

66

2008
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

New bank loans
New loan notes

–
124.5

451.1
–

Net increase in long-term loans
Repayment of long-term loans

124.5
(98.7)

451.1
(474.7)

Increase/(decrease) in borrowings
Issue costs on new borrowings

25.8
(2.0)

(23.6)
(10.0)

Cash inflow/(outflow)

23.8

(33.6)
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24 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement continued

28 Pension Commitments

d) Cash Flows Relating to Exceptional Items (note 5)
2008
£m

2007
£m

Included within operating cash flow:
Acquisition and integration costs
Licensing costs
Restructuring and reorganisation costs

(1.0)
(3.0)
(5.8)

(1.6)
(2.7)
(1.3)

Disposal of subsidiary undertaking
Disposal of fixed assets

(9.8)
–
2.8

(5.6)
19.0
2.7

(7.0)

16.1

25 Capital Commitments
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the accounts amounted to £34.8 million (2007: £44.2 million)
for the Group and £nil (2007: £nil) for the Company.

26 Contingent Liabilities
Gala Coral Group Limited has provided guarantees for certain leases entered into by the Company’s
subsidiaries. The directors do not expect these guarantees to crystallise.

27 Contingent Assets
The Group has lodged a claim for a repayment of VAT on games of interval bingo which if successful would
result in a gain of £45.7 million which has not been recognised in these accounts. On 22 May 2008, it was
announced that the VAT and Duties Tribunal had upheld a claim from another bingo operator in relation
to the VAT treatment of interval bingo games. The Tribunal deemed that VAT paid had constituted a
contravention of the European Union’s law of fiscal neutrality. The decision was appealed by Her Majesty’s
Revenue and Customs on 11 July 2008 and it is expected that the appeal will be considered by the High
Court during the first half of 2009.
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Defined Contribution Pension Scheme
The Group participates in the Gala Coral Group pension scheme, which is a defined contribution pension
scheme with a contributory and a non contributory membership level. The pension charge for the period
represents contributions paid by the Group to the scheme in respect of Group employees and amounted
to £1.7 million (2007: £1.3 million).
Defined Benefit Pension Scheme
The Group operates the Gala Coral Pension Plan, a fully funded defined benefit pension scheme which is
closed to new entrants. The Gala Coral Pension Plan was created on 1 July 2008 through the merger of the
Gala Pension Plan and the Coral Pension Plan.
Following the merger of the schemes, it was agreed that the pension payable to an individual will be based
on their average earnings calculated over the period of pensionable service (career average revalued
earnings or CARE).
A full actuarial valuation of the Gala Group scheme was undertaken at 5 April 2005 and of the Coral pension
plan at 31 March 2006.
The contributions made by the Group during the period were £18.6 million (2007: £7.7 million), equivalent
to between 17% and 38.7% of relevant salaries in the period. An actuarial review of the scheme valuation
was carried out by a qualified independent actuary as at 27 September 2008, in order to provide the
following information required by FRS 17 amended “Retirement Benefits”. The major assumptions used
by the actuary were:
2008

Rate of salary increases
Rate of pension increases
Discount rate
Inflation assumption

2007

4.5%
3.5%
6.0%
3.5%

4.1%
3.1%
5.8%
3.1%

2006

4.3%
3.0%
5.0%
3.0%

The mortality assumptions were as follows:

Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners:
– Men
– Women
Longevity at age 65 for future pensioners:
– Men
– Women

2008
Years

2007
Years

20.3
23.1

20.2
23.0

21.3
24.0

21.2
24.0
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28 Pension Commitments continued

The assets and liabilities of the schemes and the expected rate of return were:

Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit:

27 September
2008
£m

Total fair value of assets
Present value of scheme liabilities

29 September
2007
£m

30 September
2006
£m

24 September
2005
£m

25 September
2004
£m

230.4
(194.9)

218.1
(194.5)

202.8
(203.9)

128.6
(181.4)

155.1
(100.5)

Surplus/(deficit) in the scheme
Related deferred tax liability (note 21)

35.5
(9.9)

23.6
(6.6)

(1.1)
–

(52.8)
–

(54.6)
–

Net pension asset/(liability)

25.6

17.0

(1.1)

(52.8)

(54.6)

Expected
Value
Rate of 27 September
Return
2008
%
£m

Expected
Rate of
Return
%

Equities
Bonds
Gilts
Other (cash)

7.0%
5.3%
4.0%
4.3%

43.8
55.3
129.1
2.2

Value
29 September
2007
£m

7.0%
5.1%
4.0%
4.3%

100.8
34.2
81.4
1.7

Expected
Rate of
Return
%

Value
30 September
2006
£m

6.6%
3.8%
–
4.0%

90.0
112.0
–
0.8

2008
£m

2007
£m

Present value of scheme liabilities at the beginning of the period
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Plan participants’ contributions
Past service credit included in exceptional items (note 5)
Actuarial loss/(gain)

194.5
7.8
11.6
(9.1)
2.2
(24.5)
12.4

203.9
8.9
10.4
(5.9)
2.4
–
(25.2)

Present value of scheme liabilities at the end of the period

194.9

194.5

2008
£m

2007
£m

Fair value of scheme assets at the beginning of the period
Expected return on scheme assets
Actuarial (loss)/gain
Benefits paid
Employer contributions (including one-off contribution of £10.0 million)
Employee contributions

218.1
12.1
(11.5)
(9.1)
18.6
2.2

202.8
10.3
0.9
(5.9)
7.6
2.4

Fair value of scheme assets at the end of the period

230.4

218.1

Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities

Reconciliation of Fair Value of Scheme Assets
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2008
£m

2007
£m

Current service cost
Past service credit

7.8
(24.5)

8.9
–

Total operating (credit)/charge

(16.7)

8.9

2008
£m

2007
£m

12.1
(11.6)

10.3
(10.4)

0.5

(0.1)

Analysis of the amount credited/(charged) to other finance income/(costs):

Expected return on pension scheme assets
Interest on pension liabilities
Other finance income/(costs)

The cumulative actuarial gain recognised in the Group statement of total recognised gains and losses
(“STRGL”) is £4.5 million (2007: £28.4 million).
The actual return on plan assets was £0.6 million (2007: £11.2 million). To develop the assumption for the
expected rate of return on assets, the Group considered the current level of expected return on risk free
investments, the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in the portfolio
and expectations for future returns of each asset class. A weighted average rate of return on assets was
calculated. This resulted in the selection of a 4.89% assumption for 2008-09.
Movement in Surplus/(Deficit) During the Period:
2008
£m

2007
£m

Surplus/(deficit) in scheme at the beginning of the period
Current service cost
Contributions
Past service credit
Other finance income/(cost)
Actuarial (loss)/gain

23.6
(7.8)
18.6
24.5
0.5
(23.9)

(1.1)
(8.9)
7.6
–
(0.1)
26.1

Surplus at the end of the period

35.5

23.6
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30 Related Parties

History of Experience Gains and Losses:
2008

Difference between expected and actual return
on scheme assets:
Amount (£m)
Percentage of scheme assets
Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities:
Amount (£m)
Percentage of scheme liabilities
Total amount recognised in the STRGL:
Amount (£m)
Percentage of scheme liabilities

2007

2006

2005

2004

(11.5)
(5.0%)

0.9
0.4%

9.3
4.6%

4.7
10.2%

0.4
1.2%

0.0
0.0%

(0.4)
(0.2%)

0.5
0.3%

2.2
3.2%

(0.3)
(0.4%)

(23.9)
(12.2%)

26.1
13.4%

3.1
1.6%

(0.8)
(1.2%)

0.4
0.6%

The directors do not consider that it is practical to allocate the assets and liabilities of the Group defined
benefit pension scheme between Group companies and therefore it has been recognised in two subsidiary
companies on the basis that these companies are the employing companies for the majority of the
scheme members.
An accrual of £0.7 million (2007: £0.5 million) existed in respect of pension costs at 27 September 2008.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS8 “Related party disclosures” not to disclose
related party transactions between companies which are 90% owned by the ultimate parent company.
Funds managed by Candover, Cinven and the Permira Funds together hold a majority of the issued share
capital of the Company.
During the year, funds managed by Candover and Cinven each purchased £34.2 million (subscription price)
of unsecured preference certificates (PIK notes) and the Permira funds purchased £33.0 million. In total,
funds managed by Candover and Cinven hold £74.2 million (subscription price) respectively of unsecured
preference certificates (PIK notes) and the Permira funds hold £74.5 million.
In addition, funds managed by Candover and Cinven each hold £29.6 million (at issue price) respectively
of the Group’s discounted loan notes and the Permira funds hold £30.7 million. Funds managed by
Candover and Cinven each hold £141.5 million C preference shares and £8.7 million Preferred ordinary
shares. Permira Funds hold £143.7 million C preference shares and £8.8 million preferred ordinary shares.
During the year ended 27 September 2008, the Group paid monitoring fees of £0.3 million, £0.3 million
and £0.3 million (2007: £0.2 million, £0.3 million and £0.3m respectively) to Candover, Cinven and
Permira Funds. The directors appointed by Candover, Cinven and the Permira Funds do not receive
emoluments from the Group in respect of their services.
The Group also made payments to related parties (by virtue of common directors) of £0.2million
(2007: £0.2 million) to the Association of British Bookmakers, £0.1 million (2007: £0.3 million) to
the British Casino Association and £0.2 million (2007: £nil) to the National Greyhound Racing Club.

29 Post Balance Sheet Event
As discussed in the financial review on page 25 and in note 19 to the accounts, the Group utilises both fixed
interest rate swaps and an interest rate basis swap to minimise its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates
on the cost of its external bank debt. The interest rate swaps have been in place with a number of financial
institutions, one of which was Lehman Brothers International (“LBI”).
LBI went into administration in the UK on 15 September 2008, which resulted in LBI defaulting on its
obligations to the Group under the terms of the fixed interest rate swap which had a termination date of
September 2009. The default of this swap resulted in a dislocation occurring in terms of the overall hedging
position of the Group, in that the Group became exposed to fluctuations in the differential between the
three-month and one-month LIBOR under a basis swap which had a termination date of April 2009.
Subsequent to the year end a decision was taken to close out this position resulting in an exceptional cost
of £10.4 million which will be recognised in the financial statements for the year ending 26 September 2009.
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